

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

Dipartimento di Filosofia, Sociologia, Pedagogia e Psicologia Applicata - FISPA Corso di laurea Magistrale in Psicologia clinico-dinamica

Tesi di laurea magistrale

Analisi critica degli strumenti di valutazione della qualità della vita nei pazienti affetti da HIV

Critical analysis of the quality of life assessment in HIV patients

Relatore Prof. essa Sara Mondini

Correlatore esterno Dott. Enrico Ripamonti

> Laureanda: Debora De Poli Matricola: 2021155

Anno Accademico 2022-2023

SOMMARIO

ABSTRACT	3
CHAPTER 1: QUALITY OF LIFE	5
1.1 CONCEPT ORIGIN AND EVOLUTION	5
1.2 Models and domains 1	5
1.3 BASICS OF LIFE	1
1.4 Assessment and methodological aspects2	3
CHAPTER 2: QUALITY OF LIFE OF PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV	5
2.1 HIV AND QUALITY OF LIFE CONCEPT	5
2.2 Physical well-being and neurocognitive impairment in people living with HI	V
4	1
2.3 PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING AND STIGMA OF PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV4	.9
2.4 SOCIAL RELATIONSHIPS, INDEPENDENCE AND SPIRITUALITY	5
CHAPTER 3: ASSESSMENT OF QOL5	9
3.3. Specific Quality of life instruments6	9
CONCLUSION7	5
BIBLIOGRAFIA7	9

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this work is to analyze to examine the quality of life in people living with HIV. Especially in this period characterized by a universal pandemic, the importance to analyzed Quality of life is highlight by the fact that, understanding how a person with a specific disease can face the problems and the outcomes connected to this disease modifying and affecting its everyday life allow us to create some specific services and prevention programs. To do that we need to understand the meaning of the construct, its dimension and the instruments it could be used to assess this undefined concept.

The first chapter will discuss the evolution of the concept of quality of life (QoL), beginning from an historical examination of the construct, continuing with a discussion of theoretical models and the seven basic qualities of the QoL, to conclude with an analysis of the specific measurement scales and methodological aspects. The content of this first chapter will enable the reader to apply the examined construct by studying the quality of life of people living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

The second chapter will focus on applying the concept of quality of life to HIV patients. It will first describe the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) in detail, along with how it can impact a person's quality of life. It will then proceed with an analysis of the specific dimensions of QoL affected by the virus, to conclude with a description of the instruments designated to assess QoL in HIV affected people.

To conclude, in the last chapter we are going to describe some measures of Quality of life of people living with HIV, analyzing what variables an instrument with this purpose needs to investigate and what are the properties it needs to possess. We'll examine both generic and specific HIV instruments with different psychometric properties in order to understand the best way to select the perfect tools based on our necessity. Therefore, In the appendix some HIV quality of life instrument manuals are reported.

CHAPTER 1: QUALITY OF LIFE

1.1 Concept origin and evolution

Some references of the QoL can be found in early Greek writings, specifically in the Aristotelian theory of wellbeing. Aristotle strived to understand how to pursue the highest human good, referred to as Eudaimonia. This concept, etymologically composed by two Greek words: *eu "good"* and *daimonian "spirit"*, comes from Aristotle's *Nichomacean Ethics*. For the philosopher, the eudaimonia¹ is the pursuit of a virtuous life, following one's dispositions and essences. Humans need to act according to their true nature, their Daimon, in order to achieve real happiness.

Specific mention of quality of life in relation to patient health was documented much later and is connected to the definition of health that was proposed by the World Health Organization (OMS) in 1948. Health was considered not only as the absence of disease but as a "state of physical, social and mental wellbeing" (World Health Organisation, 1948). This concept gained popularity throughout the 1960's in association with the construct of welfare, interpreted not only through economic growth but also through policies regarding social well-being.

¹ The term eudaimonia is usually translated as happiness.

New health care and social welfare programs were set as goals of a new "Great Society" but this vision of social achievement was accompanied by concerns regarding a social crisis. With economic improvements came an increase in crime, drug use, fragmented families, and social and public alienation. The social interest for welfare content led to an intense political debate. The social indicators movement (Jankowska, 2015; Noll, 2004), underlined the importance of analyzing not only economical aspects, but also social indicators as a true depiction of people's living conditions. This movement assumes that it is important to monitor changes over time in a broad range of social phenomena including indicators of quality of life beyond traditional economic factors. The spread of this movement was related to the political climate between the 1960's and 70's. In this period of development, the concept of quality of life emerges as an alternative to the questionable concept of material prosperity becoming the new goal of societal development. As a result, a new area of research arose in order to establish the main social indicator that allowed people to understand the concept of personal well-being. Starting from the 1980's, a research field named "Quality of American Life Studies" began to study the subjective point of view. Before that, researchers had only taken into consideration the objective and quantitative indicators regarding living conditions. Starting from the area of the social

sciences, the concept of quality of life became an interdisciplinary construct and in the 1980's it was at the center of a scientific debate. From a health science point of view, quality of life was used as an outcome to evaluate medical treatments. A distinction exists between the medical-based approach and the health-based approach. The first is oriented around objective indicators of the individual, functioning and focus on disease, without taking into consideration social indicators. The latter is more health related and takes into consideration both objective and subjective indicators of an individual's ability to function. This approach assumes a strong relationship between life measurement, social policy and change in goals.

There was a growing appreciation in how patients felt and how satisfied they were with their treatment, in addition to the traditional focus on disease outcomes. The focus had shifted from the idea of well-being defined on the basis of normative models² to a new approach connected to the singularity of the subject and the context. This new bio-psycho-social model introduced a new concept of health composed by values, as well as physical, psychological and social elements (Laranjeira, 2008).

² biomedical models.

From a philosophical standpoint, three theories regarding well-being were examined: the preference satisfaction theory, the hedonistic theory and the objective accounts theory. The first theory underlines the importance of the ability to choose, stating that something is good for a person only if the person themselves chooses it. Two movements deriving from this approach were created: the current preference satisfaction theory in which a person's well-being is promoted by the satisfaction of preference versus the informed preference satisfaction theory that states that what is good for a person is the satisfaction of the hypothetical preferences formed by more ideal conditions, or rather, satisfactorily informed and reasonable choices The hedonistic theory defends that well-being consists of a conscious mental state that accompanies certain experiences towards which a person has a favorable attitude. The last theory states that something is good for a person in virtue of its characteristics, regardless of the individual's dispositions and attitude toward said thing (Bognar, 2005).

In 2001 Cummins, postulates that these two different indicators are essentially independent. He assumes that human beings have developed a homeostatic control in order to maintain a constant level of subjective QoL; only extreme conditions and a very low level of objective well-being can overcome this homeostatic control and affect an individual's subjective well-being. In conclusion, in order to carry out a thorough analysis of QoL, it is necessary to combine objective and subjective indicators (Buntinx & Schalock, 2010; Cummins, 2000, 2001; Van Hecke et al., 2018).

Diener and Suh in an article of 1997, also reported the importance of both objective and subjective indicators

"A thorough understanding of subjective well-being requires a knowledge of how objective conditions influence a person's evaluation of their life. Similarly, a complete understanding of objective indicators and how to select them requires that people's values are understood and that there is a knowledge on how objective indicators influence people's experience of well-being."(Diener & Suh, 1997).

Specific mention of quality of life in relation to patient health was documented in 1948 and is connected to the definition of health that was proposed by the World Health Organization (OMS). Health was considered not only as the absence of disease but as a "state of physical, social and mental well-being" (WHO, 1948). This concept gained popularity throughout the 1960's in association with the construct of welfare New health care and social welfare programs were set as goals of a new "Great Society" but this vision of social achievement was accompanied by concerns regarding a social crisis (Bognar, 2005). With economic improvements came an increase in crime, drug use, fragmented families, and social and public alienation.

The welfare was interpreted not only through economic growth but also through policies regarding social well-being. The social interest for welfare content led to an intense political debate. The social indicators movement assumes that it is important to monitor changes over time in a broad range of social phenomena including indicators of quality of life beyond traditional economic factors (Jankowska, 2015; Lançon et al., 2004; Noll, 2004). The spread of this movement was related to the political climate between the 1960's and 70's. In this period of development, the concept of quality of life emerges as an alternative to the questionable concept of material prosperity becoming the new goal of societal development (Jankowska, 2015; Noll, 2004) The social indicators movement, underlined the importance of analyzing not only economical aspects, but also social indicators as a true depiction of people's living conditions. As a result, a new area of research arose in order to establish the main social indicators that allowed people to understand the concept of personal well-being. Starting from the area of the social sciences, the concept of quality of life became an interdisciplinary construct and in the 1980's it was at the center of a scientific debate. From a health science point of view, quality of life was used as an outcome to evaluate medical

treatments. There was a growing appreciation in how patients felt and how satisfied they were with their treatment, in addition to the traditional focus on disease outcomes. The focus had shifted from the idea of well-being defined on the basis of normative models, the biomedical models, to a new approach connected to the singularity of the subject and the context. This new bio-psycho-social model introduced a new concept of health composed by values, as well as physical, psychological and social elements.

From a philosophical standpoint, three theories regarding well-being were examined: the preference satisfaction theory, the hedonistic theory and the objective accounts theory (Bognar, 2005). The first theory underlines the importance of the ability to choose, stating that something is good for a person only if the person themself chooses it. The hedonistic theory defends that well-being consists of a conscious mental state that accompanies certain experiences towards which a person has a favorable attitude. The last theory states that something is good for a person in virtue of its characteristics, regardless of the individual's dispositions and attitude toward said thing (Bognar, 2005).

In the psychological field, the research underlines the presence of two dichotomies in the epistemological and theoretical models that lead to some consequences in the methodological methods.

The first dichotomy regards the unidimensional and multidimensional approaches. The unidimensional approach examines QoL from one domain, while on the contrary the multidimensional approach takes into consideration a list of domains that complete each other. There was an evolution towards multidimensional approaches due to the fact that unidimensional domains, when individually analyzed, are not able to represent people's living conditions. A number of revisions were conducted on QoL domains in order to establish a definitive list that will be analyzed later in this work.

The second dichotomy regards objective and subjective indicators of quality of life. A 1990's study of this construct was characterized by a clear division between an objective vision and subjective vision. Some researchers focused on subjective aspects like work, health or earnings, which is the case of medical and sociological studies obtained by measurable variables. On the other hand, within the psychological field, a subjective approach to the QoL was preferred. According to this approach, the variable that needs to be analyzed is the subject's perception of their own life and well-being. Objective and subjective indicators were regarded as two sides of the same coin. In fact, objective elements can partially affect a person's satisfaction with their own life because everyone reacts differently to specific circumstances according to personal beliefs, values and experiences. This view is based on the postmodernist movement which assumes that there isn't an objective reality, but only a subjective experience of the world (Laranjeira, 2008).

Cummins postulates that these two different indicators are essentially independent. He assumes that human beings have developed a homeostatic control in order to maintain a constant level of subjective QoL; only extreme conditions and a very low level of objective well-being can overcome this homeostatic control and affect an individual's subjective well-being. In conclusion, in order to carry out a thorough analysis of QoL, it is necessary to combine both objective and subjective indicators (Cummins, 2001). The importance to consider both objective and subjective indicators is underling also by Diener and Suh in their 1997 work:

"A thorough understanding of subjective well-being requires a knowledge of how objective conditions influence a person's evaluation of their life. Similarly, a complete understanding of objective indicators and how to select them requires that people's values are understood and that there is a knowledge on how objective indicators influence people's experience of well-being." (Diener & Suh, 1997). The considerations that were made up until this point in history demonstrate the multidimensional nature of QoL, which in turn reflect a holistic vision of the human being. Following this consideration, much research was done in order to investigate the domains that make up the construct instead of the definition of concept. Different models propose disparate domain theories that will be analyzed in the following section.

The considerations that were made up until this point in history demonstrate the multidimensional nature of QoL, which in turn reflect a holistic vision of the human being. Following this consideration, much research was done in order to investigate the domains that make up the construct instead of the definition of concept. Different models propose disparate domain theories that will be analyzed in the following section.

1.2 Models and domains

The first is the World Health Organization's model which defines QoL as "individuals' perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns" ³. This model considers six dimensions of QoL: physical condition, psychological condition, environment, social relationships, level of independence and spiritual, personal and religious beliefs

In continuation, the Felce and Perry theory defines QoL as an overall concept composed by objective indicators and their subjective evaluation weighted by a personal set of values; together with cultural, geographical and historical influences. This theory takes into consideration five domains of QoL: physical well-being, emotional well-being, material well-being, social well-being and productivity (Agrati, 2019; Felce, 1997; Felce & Perry, 1995).

The third model is Cummins's theory of subjective wellbeing homeostasis. As previously stated, the subjective perception of well-being is highly stable and only extremely unpleasant events are able to affect it. The subjective wellbeing is managed by a system of psychological devices, which aim is

³ The WhOQol group, The World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the world health organization, 1995, p. 1405

to protect the Homeostatically protected mood. When a negative events overwhelms the homeostasis control we experience the dominance of negative affect, experiencing depression when this condition is chronic (Cummins, 2010, 2018; Cummins et al., 2014) The relationship between subjective well-being and objective social well-being is non-linear and depends on the concern that a person places on their resources and the influence of other domains. According to this theory, quality of life is composed of health, emotional well-being, material well-being, social position, productivity and security(Cummins, 2000, 2001, 2005).

Another definition of QoL was formed by Renwick and Brown, who defined QoL as the level of satisfaction that allows people to follow what they find important for their existence (Raphael, Brown, et al., 1996; Raphael, Renwick, et al., 1996). The above authors do not provide a theoretical foundation for this model, but instead choose a constructivist and practiceoriented approach considering QoL as a social construct. This model distinguishes three domains and three subdomains for each. The first domain is *Being* and is divided into physical being (body and health), psychological being (feelings and thoughts) and spiritual being (values and beliefs). The second is *Belonging*, which includes people and places in the person's life: composed of physical belonging (the places where the person spends their time), social belonging (the people in the person's life) and community belonging (the resources in their environment). The last dimension is *Becoming* and concerns the daily activities of the person. It is made up of practical becoming, leisure becoming and growth becoming (actions taken to cope and develop as an individual) (Rebeiro Gruhl et al., 2018).

The last model that will be analyzed is Schalock and Verdugo's theory (Schalock et al., 2016; Verdugo et al., 2005, 2012) that has recently been shown to have the best model fit in terms of the factors included in its composition; according to Gomez, Verdugo and Arias research of 2011, the eight domains model of Shalock and Verdugo seems to be the most representative model of quality of life (Gómez et al., 2011).

This multidimensional model focuses on the individual as a whole and is composed of eight domains: physical wellbeing, emotional well-being, material well-being, interpersonal relations, social inclusion, personal development, selfdetermination and rights. These domains are the fundamentals elements of QoL and they are studied on the basis of three levels: micro-, meso- and macro levels. Micro Level refers to personal growth and development, mesolevel concerns the contexts in which the subject is included, the macrolevel has to do with social policies (Schalock et al., 2005; Van Hecke et al., 2018).

The authors also reported some examples of indicators that concretely define each domain, identified by a metaanalysis and the standards of selection are: validity (to measure what is supposed to be measured), reliability (to be accepted by different evaluators), sensitivity (to identify a specific trait), sustainability and specificity (to reflect the situation); as well as the need to reflect the culture of belonging. Emotional wellbeing is defined by self-esteem, fulfillment and freedom from stress, which can affect physical well-being, interpersonal relationships, self-determination, work and personal development. Material well-being is composed of employment, accommodation and financial means, which in turn influence personal development, self-determination, emotional well-being, social inclusion and self-esteem. Physical well-being is divided into health, free time and daily activity. It can have an impact on emotional well-being, interpersonal relationships, personal development, employment self-esteem and autonomy. The concept of interpersonal relationships is defined by interaction, relationships and support and can have some influence on selfesteem, social inclusion, personal development and emotional well-being. Personal development is composed of concern for education, competence and performance which can affect selfdetermination, material well-being, emotional well-being and social inclusion. Self-determination is formed by personal goals and values, choices and independence and is linked to emotional well-being, material well-being, social inclusion and interpersonal relationships (Lachapelle et al., 2005; Wehmeyer, 2020; Wehmeyer & Schalock, 2017). Self-determined people perceive a connection between their actions and the outcomes they want to experience and develop a sense of personal empowerment. Social inclusion is divided into social support, social integration and contribution to the community and is connected to interpersonal relationships, emotional well-being, material well-being and self-determination. Social integration refers to the feeling of being a part of society and having something in common with others who take part in this society. Social contribution is the evaluation of the person as a vital member of society.

The last domain concerns people's human and legal rights and is linked to all of the previous domains. These indicators need to be applied to the context, defining situations and behaviors that a person can carry out in a specific context. To conclude, Shalock and Verdugo conceptualized specific factors within which the domains must be analyzed (Schalock et al., 2008; Verdugo et al., 2005). These factors are independence, well-being and participation. As a result of this examination, some resemblance in the classifications of the domains can be perceived, despite the disagreement on the definition of quality of life.

1.3 Basics of Life

After studying the evolution of Quality Of Life and the different models that have been proposed, the basics of QoL can be discussed (Cummins, 2005; Verdugo et al., 2005). The first is multidimensionality: the concept of QoL cannot be described simply by measuring the material aspects of living; a thorough analysis of relationships, context, physical health as well as the psychological aspects of a person must be taken into account. The second basic quality is the holistic vision that considers which of the dimensions of QoL are interconnected. In other words, the aspects of a person's life that influence each other. The third basic quality is the union of objective and subjective elements. As stated previously, the subjective perception of life needs to be integrated by taking into consideration the objective indicators of quality of life such as employment, earnings and health.

The fourth basic quality is the feasibility and the scientific validity of QoL. The concept needs to be relevant to the subject, and as a consequence, the dimensions must also portray the living aspect that all human beings have in common. In fifth place comes inter and intrapersonal variability. The dimensions of QoL can have a different value on the basis of the cultural model, along with personal characteristics, beliefs and habits. Through the concept of QoL, one can study how a person is able to pursue their hopes, needs and expectations along with their competences and weaknesses, while at the same time taking into consideration their social context, be it integrative, limiting or supportive (Keyes, 1998). The sixth basic quality is the life-span perspective of the concept. This dimension helps the individual to create a personalized life project, in fact, the value ascribed to the different dimensions can change during one's lifetime. The last basic quality concerns empowerment (Mazzoni et al., 2014; Moattari et al., 2012); through the application of the concept of QoL a person can be helped to express themselves by recognizing their values, needs and choices and by trying to achieve a better personal development and better living conditions (Agrati, 2019).

1.4 Assessment and methodological aspects

Before starting with the analysis of the QoL assessment instruments, further explanation is needed. The QoL construct and the concept of Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) overlap with each other and this may lead to confusion (Bertelli et al., 2016; Busija et al., 2011; Karimi & Brazier, 2016). This term was introduced into the literature on health status measurement in the 1970's, motivated by the desire to measure the outputs of the health care system. In the respective literature, there is some confusion on the distinction between these two concepts that leads to an unclear classification of the instruments designated to measure said concepts. Some research has defined HRQoL as the measurement of a person's perceived physical, psychological and social well-being; a definition that doesn't distance itself very much from the definition of healt (Heggenhougen & Quah, 2008). Another definition comes close to the concept of QoL because it refers to the domains of quality of life affected by health; but what are the aspects of QoL not affected by health? The last definition of HRQoL, which will be taken into consideration throughout this entire work, defines the concept as: the effects of a disease on everyday life, as perceived by the subject (Ebrahim, 1995). Following this point of view, HRQoL can be seen as a domain of QoL that explains only a small part of the outcome. As a result, the instruments

employed to study HRQoL measure the self-perceived health status.

SF-36: The 36 Short Form is the most commonly used HRQoL instrument and it was developed by Ware and Sherbourne. It consists of six domains: physical functioning, social functioning, role limitations due to physical problems, role limitations due to emotional problems, mental health, energy/vitality, pain, and general health perception. The scores are divided in two sections: Physical Component Summary score (PCS) and the Mental Component Summary score (MCS).

The internal consistency is reported to be acceptable as the construct validity and the test-retest reliability was reported to be excellent (Brazier et al., 1992; Holmes & Ruocco, 2008; Tobe et al.,1970); regarding the validity it show a good convergent validity a god face validity and an adequate content validity (Busija et al., 2011). An Italian version was validated in appearing to be a valid and realiable multidimensional questionnaire as reported in Mosconi and Apolone survey (Apolone & Mosconi, 1998).

HUI: 1 Health utility index (HUI) is composed of 15 items divided in 7 domains: vision, ambulation, dexterity, emotion, cognition, hearing, speech and pain. It is available in two versionnHUI-2 and HUI-3. Regarding the emotion dimension HUI-2 focus on anxiety and distress rather than the comparison between happiness and depression like HUI-3, then, the cognition in HUI-2 focus on learning while in HUI-3 the main focus is on problem solving abilities. Regarding pain dimension HUI-3 is concerned with frequency ad control of pain while HUI-2 primarily examine the severity of pain. I addition, the sensation dimension of HUI-2 was divided in vision, hearing and speech in HUI-3. It is very responsive to changes in health status and could be self-complete or interweaver-administered, it is aaillable in different languages included Italian. It shows a good concurrent validity and a good responsiveness to change in health especially regarding HIV condition (Busija et al., 2011; Nosyk et al., 2009).

SIP: The Sickness Impact Profile is composed of 136 items describing activities of daily living and is divided into twelve categories: sleep and rest, eating, work, home management, recreation and pastimes, ambulation, mobility, body care and movement, social interaction, alertness behavior, emotional behavior, and communication. Both the ISP and the SIP Revised present a good internal consistency an excellent test-retest reliability and a good face and convergent validity (Busija et al., 2011; Kenna et al., 2005; Kiluk et al., 2013). We

can also find an Italian version of this test that maintain the same psychometric properties (Marchionni et al., 1997)

EQ-5D: The EuroQoL 5-Dimensions is a preferencebased HRQoL instrument composed of one question for each of the five domains: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. This questionnaire also includes a Visual Analog Scale (VAS) that allows respondents to report their perceived health status ranging from 0 to 100.

The instrument shows an excellent correlation between its two dimensions and each dimension correlates positively with the similar dimensions measured by the MOS providing evidence of construct and convergent validity (Feng et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2002). At the same times it shows a low responsiveness to changes in health status due to adverse events, probably because there are only three levels for each item, with a greater number of possible responses it could be more sensitive to changes; another reason could be that factors other than health influence patient utility. Again, adaptation to illness might cause a lack of responsiveness especially in chronic conditions (Wu et al., 2002).

An Italian version of this instrument was validated in 2006 and following the Savoia et al. Study it showed a good

internal consistency, a good reliability and and excellent convergent and discriminant validity(Savoia et al., 2006).

Another important question concerns the choice between generic or specific quality of life instruments. The instruments used to assess a specific age group, disease or target group analyze the domains that are important to a specific group, while on the other hand, generic instruments examine all the domains considered to be valuable in order to obtain a complete analysis of QoL. Furthermore, the application of generic instruments makes it possible to compare the results obtained by people belonging to different control groups. A possible solution could be the employment of generic instruments with modules for different target groups or surveys with more inclusive questions. Another matter that must be addressed is the need for an instrument that integrates qualitative and quantitative aspects, of measurement, along with objective and subjective measures. The value one attaches to a domain and the goals of the assessments should be taken into consideration when developing or choosing QoL instruments (Van Hecke et al., 2018). Qualitative measurements focus on personal experiences and meanings making use of focus groups, interviews and observation methods. Quantitative measurements evaluate numeric variables using structured protocols and questionnaires. Some aspects of QoL can be objectively measured through

direct observation while other aspects require subjective evaluations. In 2012 Townsend-White et al argue that every domain needs to be assessed by separate measurable subjective and objective indicators (Townsend-White et al., 2012). Another debate concerns the use of self-made and proxy reports, seeing as the results of the self-made reports could be biased by presenting socially desirable answers, along with the fact that disabilities subjects with intellectual and mental or communication problems may find some difficulty in expressing themselves. Given the importance of the subjective component of QoL, the assessment should be primarily based on self-made reports, considering proxy reports as additional information. Now that the methodological aspects have been explained, the next sections will analyze some particular QoL instruments.

The first instrument to be presented is the World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment (WHOQoL); a patient reported questionnaire developed by the WHO in 1995 (Skevington et al., 2004). It is composed of 100 questions regarding the patient's subjective perceptions of health and wellbeing over a two-week period. The questions cover six domains plus one question regarding general QoL and health: 1) Overall Quality of Life and general heath, 2) Physical health, composed by energy and fatigue, pain and discomfort and sleep and rest, 3) Psychological health, divided into body image and appearance, negative feelings, positive feelings, self-esteem and thinking, learning, memory and concentration, 4) Level of independence, composed by mobility, daily activities, dependence on medical substances and medical aids, and ability to work, 5) Social relationships, formed by personal relationships, social support and sexual activity, 6) Environment, financial resources, freedom, physical safety and security, health and social care: accessibility and quality, possibility of acquiring new information and skills, home environment, participation and opportunities for recreation/leisure, physical environment (pollution, noise, traffic, climate) and transport, 7) Spirituality, religion and personal beliefs. The WHOQOL-BREF (Skevington et al., 2004) is a shorter version of the previous assessment and it comprises 26 items and four domains are composed of the same facets of the WHOQoL-100: 1) Physical health, 2) Psychological health, 3) Social relationships, 4) Environment. Each of the 26 facets is composed of four items that ask how a person feels about different aspects of their life. The items are rated on a five-points Likert scale where a one indicates low or negative feelings and a five indicates high or positive feelings. After the development of these two generic questionnaires, the necessity of disease specific items became clear. It shows a good internal consistency and discriminant validity and a quit good test-retest reliability (Who, 1998). We can find also an Italian version of the instrument showing good psychometric properties with good internal consistency, an excellent concurrent validity and a good test-retet reliability(Girolamo et al., 2000).

The second instrument to be discussed is the Quality of Life Scale undertaken (**QoLS**) in the 1970's in the United States by Flanagan (M. Burckhardt et al., 2020). The original work was composed of 16 items representing five QoL domains: material and physical well-being, relationships with other people, social, community and civic activities, personal development and fulfillment and recreation. Following some descriptive research on a person with a chronic illness, one more item was included in order to evaluate an item that was able to reflect the importance of remaining independent to these patients. The 15items scale has a high test-retest reliability over a three-week period and is internally consistent, similar reliability was estimated for the 16-item scale. The scale can also be used in chronic illness groups. A total score is determined by summing the individual scores of the singular items.

It presents a good internal consistency, an excellent testretest reliability and a high convergent and divergent validity (Burckhardt & Anderson, 2003) The third instrument is the Quality of life interview (**QOLI**), a self-made report instrument developed by Lehman in 1983 (Lehman, 1983). This covers the eight life domains of living, family, social relationships, leisure, work, safety, finances and physical health with three types of replies for each: a dichotomous reply (yes/no), an open response concerned with objective information and a reply located on a seven-point Likert scale exploring the social dimension of QoL. The information regarding the QoL domains is obtained from both objective and subjective indicators throughout 143 items (Lançon et al., 2004).

It presents a solid internal structure showing a good internal consistency both in objective and subjective scale, it appears sensitive to change and shows good concurrent and convergent validity (Lançon et al., 2004; Wasserman et al., 2006)

Another instrument that should be discussed is the McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire (**M-QOL**) developed by Cohen in 1996 to measure QoL of people with a life-threatening illness (Cohen et al., 2019; Sguazzin et al., 2010; Smith et al., 1997). This questionnaire analyzes four domains: physical wellbeing and symptoms, psychological symptoms, social and

existential well-being and support. It is a patient-reported instrument composed of 16 items (three are selected by the client) and one single-item on a global scale. The McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire- Revised (MQoL-R) improved the first version in order to address the issues that arose during the use of MQOL. It shows a good construct validity an reliability and a high internal consistency, properties that are maintained in the Italian version of the instrument (Henry et al., 2008; Sguazzin et al., 2010; Smith et al., 1997).

The Personal Well-being Index (**PWI**), which was developed in 2001 by Cummins, measures subjective well-being by asking people how satisfied they are with the seven life domains: standard of living, personal health, achievement in life, personal relationships, personal safety, communityconnectedness, and future security (Lau et al., 2005). It is derived from the Comprehensive Quality of Life Scale (Com QoL) developed by Cummins in 1997. The PWI addresses the issues about the conceptual structure of ComQoL instruments. Specifically, it included a parallel scale evaluating objective QoL which seems to not be correlated with the main scale. In addition, the item "satisfaction with own happiness" introduced some conceptual complexity. The PWI is a seven items selfadministered scale. Every item can be separately analyzed, or a subjective well-being score can be calculated by summing the individual scores of each domain. It presents good test-retest reliability, high inter-domain correlations and good construct and convergent validity (International Wellbeing Group, 2013).

The Battery Instruments to Assess Quality of Life (**BASIQ**) is the Italian validation of the Quality of Life Instrument Package (QoL-IP). The BASIQ is made of three different yet related questionnaires: a direct interview (DI) with the subject, a proxy questionnaire completed by someone who knows the subject well (PQ)⁴ and an external assessor questionnaire (EAQ), completed by someone who knows the subject only superficially. It is composed of three areas (Being, Belonging and Becoming), each divided into nine sub-areas⁵. The QoL scores represent the relationship between the importance and satisfaction ratings. This instrument allows the interviewer to have a complete vision of the QoL by analyzing the subject, as well as a proxy point of view analyzing different aspects and collecting different impression about subject life and future goals (Bertelli et al., 2016, 2011).

It shows a very good internal consistency and reliability Another interesting instrument is the Schedule for the Evaluation of Individual Quality of Life (SEIQoL) (M.

⁴ The PQ and DI scales are composed of the same 54 items.

⁵ The Basiq is based on the Renwick and Brown model I, explained in section 1.2.

Burckhardt et al., 2020; Hickey et al., 1996). It is an interviewbased assessment that takes into consideration the individual's perspective allowing the subject to nominate, weigh and rate the dimensions that are considered important for the QoL. The instrument is designed to measure the aspects of life designated crucial by the subject, their current ability to function, their satisfaction with the chosen aspects and the weight the subject assigns to each. The SEIQoL is based on a phenomenological approach which means that the five dimensions identified by the subject need to be labeled and explained by observing their subjective meanings. Successively, the subject is asked to rate their current and hypothetical performance in each area and to assign a score to the nominated areas in relation to each other by forming a pie chart. The index is calculated from the sum of the product of the levels and the relative scores and it can be used for comparisons from a range of 0 to 100. It present good psychometric properties

It allowed to better understand what domains of quality of life are relevant for the patients having a deeper analysis of his experience than standardized questionnaires (Lucchiari et al., 2015).

CHAPTER 2: QUALITY OF LIFE OF PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV

2.1 HIV and Quality of life concept

The HIV is a lentivirus, a subgroup of retrovirus causing deadly and chronic disease that affects the immune system and characterized by a long incubation period (Preedy & Watson, 2018; Spec et al., 2019).

Binding to a CD4 receptor and one or two co-receptors on the surface of the cell, The HIV virion enter in CD4-t cells which are lymphocytes that stimulate other cells to fight infections by helping to coordinate the immune response

After fusing itself to the cell, the virus releases its genetic material (RNA) that is converted in DNA by the reverse transcriptase enzyme. At this point, thanks to an enzyme called integrase, the viral DNA integrates itself with the cell's DNA and the enzyme RNA polymerase makes RNA copies of DNA. The HIV RNA is either inserted into new virus particles or translated into HIV proteins with which the new virus is created thanks to the action of the enzyme HIV protease. At the end, the HIV particle called virion is released from the cell's membrane, taking with it part of the cell's membrane and the CD4 cell is
destroyed. The reproduction and the release of the new viral cells is called gemmation.

The new viral cell is ready to infect other CD4 cells, and it can immediately start its replication, or it can remain inactive for a period of time. The HIV infection is divided in three stages: 1) Acute HIV infection, 2) Chronic HIV infection and 3) Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS). The first stage occurs within two or four weeks from the initial infection. In this stage the virus can remain latent without manifesting any kind of symptoms, but some patients may show symptoms similar to those of the flu. These are caused by the fast replication of the viral cells, leading to a very high concentration of said cells in a short period of time, which in turn leads to an elevated risk of transmission through fluids such as blood or genital secretions.

During the second stage, an affected person may seem healthy, but the virus continues its replication, deteriorating the immune system while the risk of transmission remains.

The last stage, also known as AIDS, is when the immune system is seriously compromised and the person with HIV can manifest severe infections called opportunistic infection. The AIDS diagnosis is given when the CD4 number is less than 200 cells per cubic millimeter of blood (cells/mm3). There is no cure for HIV, but antiretroviral therapy stops the virus from replicating, reducing the viral load and allowing affected patients to avoid or manage the third stage of the virus, while on the contrary, without treatment a patient's life expectancy is around three years.

In May 2016, in its 69th session, the World Health Assembly approved a new Global Health Sector Strategy for HIV for 2016–2021; this strategy formulated by the WHO established a 90-90-90 target, by incentivizing the health system to simultaneously 1. reduce the under-diagnosis of HIV cases by identifying at least 90% of actual cases, 2. guarantee treatment to at least 90% of HIV patients and 3. ensure that 90% of patients were treated using viral suppression treatments (J. V. Lazarus et al., 2016). In order to monitoring the progress towards 90-90-90, a periodic monitoring of the country-level is critical in order to find gaps and improve the services (Marsh et al., 2019). However, there could be some challenge to reach the targets, one may be treatment cost, Art cost have declined in these last years, but it needs to decline more; the cost reduction will come from new drugs and lower dosage. That will require fast innovation in order to avoid supply chain collapse (Jamieson & Kellerman, 2016).

As reported in a 2018 study conducted by Marsh et al. it (Marsh et al., 2019) was utopian to think that many region and country would reach the 2020 target. Indeed, as reported by the study, "in 2018 approximately one in five People living with HIV globally still didn't know their HIV status, 22% of those who knew their status are not accessing antiretroviral therapy and14% of people on treatment didn't have a suppressed viral load". Despite of this poor results, for many country and regions, the examination conducted to monitor the progress toward 90-90-90 targets, have provided some useful information about what program delivery improvements are needed (Marsh et al., 2019).

For what concern the Italian progress the 90-90-90 targets are partially achieved, the three targets are around 70-80 % each, instead of the hoped-for 90% (Schiaroli, 2020). This is probably due to the Covid-19 reducing the availability of routine HIV care causing interruption in the scale-up of PrEP and difficulties in accessing to the hospital for screening and medication and in drug delivery (Guaraldi et al., 2021).

As was mentioned in the previous paragraphs, the WHO, by adopting a holistic approach to health and healthcare, defines health as "a state of physical, mental and social well-being, not merely the absence of disease and infirmity", showing the need to take into consideration another dimension of health in order to promote well-being and in turn carry out suitable policies to achieve this goal. Furthermore, the WHO defines QoL as an "individuals' perception of their position in life, in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns".

In order to evaluate the consequences of the virus in the patients' lives, this work will refer to the WHO's paradigm of quality of life. Following this point of view, HIV may have a big impact in people's daily lives, not only by reducing physical well-being due to a compromised immune system, comorbidities and systemic inflammation, but by also affecting the remaining aspects of Quality of life.

2.2 Physical well-being and neurocognitive impairment in people living with HIV

The Highly Active Anti-Retroviral Therapy (HAART) is a combination of two reverse transcriptase inhibitors and a protease inhibitor (World Health Organisation, 2006). The protease is a retroviral aspartyl involved in the modeling of the viral microproteins necessary for virus replication; it is a therapy introduced in 1996 in order to face HIV and prevent AIDS.

With the use of HAART, both mortality and hospitalizations were fully reduced, and a new hope arose. By 2000, the limitations of the available antiretroviral drugs became clear for different reasons: 1. The protease inhibitors were associated with potential metabolic effects like insulin resistance, cardiac arrhythmias or lipodystrophy, a condition of fat redistribution caused by early antiretroviral drugs.

2. The rapid development of drug resistance and 3. the pills needed to be swallowed frequently, more than once per day. For these reasons, HAART was prescribed only when the CD4 count dropped below 350 cells/mm3, as the risks of early administration were seen to outweigh the benefits. In recent years, a new kind of antiretroviral drug has been developed. These therapies are called Antiretroviral therapy (ART) and are associated with fewer side effects and a better drug resistance profile. Recently, the Fixed Dose Combination (FDC) was also developed with just one pill per day, increasing the adherence to the therapy and the ease of the medicine intake. In 2019, the first bi-drug therapy was approved which combined a new generation integrase inhibitor and an older NRTI. There are six classes of antiretroviral agents and each target a different step in the viral life cycle: nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs), non nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), protease inhibitors (PIs), integrase inhibitors, fusion inhibitors and chemokine inhibitors. The first two agents operate early in the viral life cycle by stopping viral replication while the PIs operate by later stopping the protease enzyme from assembling the new HIV material (Oguntibeju, 2012).

After the introduction of ART therapy, there was a shift in HIV status from a fatal disease to a mostly manageable chronic condition. Therefore, life expectancy increased, but there was also a higher risk of developing associated comorbidities which is one of the important factors that may affect QoL (Lorenc et al., 2014). Some chronic comorbidities can be a consequence of normal health-related changes, but others can be associated with the increase in toxicity due to a longer duration of ART and to the persistent immunodeficiency and inflammation connected to the virus. The most common comorbidities are diabetes mellitus, vascular disease, respiratory disease, hypertension, lipid disorders, kidney disease, hepatic disease, neurocognitive impairments, sexually transmitted infections, psychiatric disorders and substance dependence. Opportunistic infections (K Chepkondol et al., 2020) and comorbidities usually need to be treated with different medicine by prescribing a polypharmacy; this can increase the risk of side effects caused by the drug-drug interaction and long-term effects and can affect the adherence to the treatment due to the consumption of several different drugs (Okoli et al., 2020).

HIV affects many organs including the brain and nerves by causing neurocognitive disorders (Heaton et al., 2011; Robertson et al., 2014; Rubtsova et al., 2020). Before the ART era, the association between HIV and HIV-associated dementia (HAND) was very common in the advanced stage of the disease. After the introduction of ART, the prevalence of the most severe form of HAND is declined, but some milder forms can still be reported (Heaton et al., 2011; Rubtsova et al., 2020). This condition primarily affects subcortical and front striatal brain processes by involving a variety of brain functions such as attention span, speed of information processing, concentration, working memory, executive function, abstraction skills, motor function and visuospatial processes. In particular, central executive component memory, attention span, executive functioning and processing speed are involved in the activities of daily living (ADL), basic tasks that are essential to live

independently and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL), more complex tasks of everyday living like: conditioning autonomy, work, social relationships; therefore, QoL.

With regard to everyday activities, neurocognitive impairment (NCI) can create a number of problems in the workplace by impacting employment status; NCI can simultaneously reduce the autonomy of decision making and the self-perceived independence of the subject. As a consequence, it can impact psychological and physical well-being as well as social relationships and self-determination. Some studies underline the correlation between depression and neurocognitive impairment, for example, a 2019 study by Rubin and Maki (Rubin & Maki, 2019) reports an association between depression and processing speed, episodic memory, executive function and attention, underling that the contribution of HIV to depression could be imputed to the chronic inflammation and alterations in dopamine and other neurotransmitters. A 2015 study by Chartier and colleagues (Chartier et al., 2015) also highlights the connection between depression, attention span and central executive performance, identifying the latter two as predictors of psychological disorders. On the contrary, two other studies deny the link between depression and impairment of attention or executive control (Armstrong et al., 2017; Kamat et al., 2013).

Another disorder reported in association with NCI is apathy. A study conducted by Shapiro and colleagues found a correlation between neurocognitive performance, attention span and information processing tasks and apathy, considered as a "depletion in initiation and motivation". The results underline that high levels of apathy can predict "greater difficulty performing physical functional tasks, more limitation in activities requisite to social roles at home and in the community and less engagement in social communal activities". These results were also confirmed by previous research conducted by Castellon and colleagues which reported an association between central executive and executive function performance and apathy (Castellon et al., 2000).

Another link exists between NCI and anxiety. For example, a study conducted by Janssen and colleagues reported a correlation between self-report measures of anxiety and depressive symptoms and speed of information processing (Janssen et al., 2015); whereas Robertons and colleagues found an association between neurocognitive status and testing of functions involved in the supervisory control and anxiety (Robertson et al., 2014). Every day functioning and psychological well-being can also be affected by pain and fatigue, which may also impact mental functioning, socialization and work of people living with HIV, hence impacting QoL and treatment adherence (Aouizerat et al., 2013; da Silva et al., 2017; Madden et al., 2020). Pain can be a result of three factors: HIV infection and persistent inflammation, opportunistic disease and side effects of ART. The patient's perceived pain can be influenced by context (level of independence, social relationships, religion), gender (females seem to have a higher prevalence of painful symptoms) and personal and social aspects. Fatigue, characterized by exhaustion and lack of energy which in turn affects everyday activities, may also have different causes, but it is usually linked to HIV medications, long periods of inactivity, stress, depression and insomnia. In particular fatigue can affect concentration, thinking and learning. Another problem linked to HIV regards the HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders (HAND). The HIV infection is associated with reduced brain volume, which can impact functioning and the structure of gray matter and also affect the frontal nervous system. The relationship between NCI and QoL is complex and can be mediated by other factors such as age, gender, opportunistic infections and mental health. In particular, apathy, depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress seem to be mediator factors as they simultaneously correlate with fatigue, insomnia, motivational system and pain. A 2017 study conducted by Rubin and collegues, underlined a correlation between post-traumatic stress (PTSD) symptoms, perceived

stress, anxiety and perturbation in cognition and brain functioning (Rubin et al., 2017). Considering the global problems related to Covid-19 that the world has faced in the last two and a half years, an analysis of the impact of Covid-19 on the QoL of people living with HIV needs to be carried out. There are different points of view about the vulnerability of people with HIV to coronavirus SARS-CoV and the outcomes of the virus. Some studies, such as the 2021 research done by Sachdev and colleagues (Sachdev et al., 2021) underline that HIV, by causing the depletion of CD4 cells, leads to a deterioration of the immune system, which increases the risk of individuals with HIV in contracting infections and comorbidities despite the presence of effective ART therapy (Hadi et al., 2020; Han et al., 2022; Suwanwongse & Shabarek, 2020). At the same time, people with HIV seem to be at higher risk for severe Covid-19 symptoms due to the comorbidities they may already present, a higher systemic inflammation and some degree of immune alteration; all factors that can lead to the development of severe respiratory disease and thromboembolic disease. Other studies, on the contrary (de Medeiros et al., 2021; Etienne et al., 2020; Laurence, 2020), report similar rates of SARS-Cov among seroporitive people on effective ART compared to the general population, specifying that they are more likely to be tested for Covid than the general population. A few other perspectives

(Meyer et al., 2022; Suwanwongse & Shabarek, 2020) observed a lower incidence of the virus due to the protective action of ART therapy. Besides the high risk for physical well-being linked to compromised immune system and comorbidities, as some researchers report, HIV can negatively interact with the SARS Covid vaccine. Regarding this last detail, as reported in some research, a COVID-19 vaccine booster may be needed in PLWHIV because a low CD4 count and a high HIV viral load could lead to a weaker response to the vaccine (Facciolà et al., 2022; Tamuzi et al., 2022). Quarantine, social distancing, restricted public transportation, reduced access to hospitals and HIV clinics and dislocation of available resources6 can lead to a reduction of the people to have undergone the HIV test and a high risk of treatment interruption or retardation due to the difficulties in refilling ART and the high number of Covid patients recorded at the hospitals. Also, Pre-exposure prophylaxes (PrEP) programs were interrupted or reduced during the pandemic (Morgan et al., 2022). These challenges in maintaining the HIV care continuum could be worse in places with weak health-care systems. Additionally, isolation and social distancing may increase the risk of psychological disorders, namely depression and anxiety, which are already strongly associated with HIV.

⁶ Financial resources, doctors and entire hospital wards were relocated to face the spread of the virus so both acute and chronic medical conditions unrelated to COVID-19 were under prioritized.

2.3 Psychological Well-Being and Stigma of people living with HIV

Being diagnosed and living with a terminal and transmissible virus like HIV has an immense emotional impact on those affected. The diagnosis can expose the patient to a huge amount of stress by arousing a wide range of feelings like fear, anxiety, sense of guilt, anger, sadness and shame. This can lead to the development of mental health conditions, impact everyday functioning and affect QoL. Depression is one of the most prevalent psychiatric disorders among HIV patients and, as reported by some studies (World Health Organization, 2009; Abadiga, 2018), depression can be strongly associated with perceived social stigma, opportunistic infections, sleep problems, apathy and anxiety. Stigma manifests itself in three ways: 1) prejudice and negative emotions and feelings like anger fear and disgust, 2) stereotypical beliefs about the stigmatized person's characteristics and 3) discrimination and behavioral expressions of prejudice.

Stigma is a socially formed mark associated with a person's characteristics and HIV can be perceived and interiorized as a stigma; therefore, an HIV carrier can be seen as a person that may threaten another person's life and may possess

moral blemishes. In an article written by H. Deacon in 2006 (Deacon, 2006), stigma is defined as a "social process in which: 1. illness is constructed as preventable or controllable; 2. immoral behaviors causing the illness are identified; 3. these behaviors are associated with 'carriers' of the illness in other groups, drawing on existing social constructions of the 'others'; 4. certain people are thus blamed for their own infections and; 5. status loss is projected onto the 'others', which may (or may not), result in a disadvantage to them". Following this definition, the cause of HIV is often perceived as being derived from avoidable behaviors such as homosexuality, drug addiction and sexual promiscuity, hence evoking stigmatization and moralism. Furthermore, H. Deacon underlines the necessity to separate stigma and discrimination, identifying discrimination as a consequence of stigma, but also recognizing that stigma can have a negative impact on the self-concept even in the absence of discrimination, disempowering people and having deleterious effect in people life (Algarin et al., 2021).

The fear of being socially stigmatized or discriminated against may change peoples' behavior by leading them into social withdrawal. Three stigma processes form part of this mechanism: enacted stigma, anticipated stigma and internalized stigma. The first refers to the degree to which people believe they have experienced prejudice and discrimination; anticipated stigma concerns the expectation of discrimination and prejudice from others in their community and internalized stigma refers to how people introject these prejudices. This mechanism can lead the subject to develop what is known as disclosure anxiety(Earnshaw & Chaudoir, 2009; Rzeszutek et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2020).

Disclosure anxiety is derived from sharing one's HIV status and the concern about other peoples' prejudice can contribute to feelings of worry over losing one's job and being forced into social isolation. The perception of social isolation can be associated to feelings of guilt, blame and isolation which are associated to depression (Evangeli & Wroe, 2017; Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). Some studies underline the role of gender, ethnicity, types of relationships and culture in the effects of disclosure . For example, in the Comer, Henker, Kemeny and Wyatt (Comer et al., 2000) study, an association between a greater disclosure and increased depression was found in Latin American women, probably due to the perceived stigmatization and discrimination accompanied by a sense of shame; on the contrary, no link was found between disclosure and mental health in African American and Caucasian women. It is possible to understand the unique association between disclosure and mental health among Latin American women after carrying out a cultural interpretation, indeed, a collectivistic cultural

disclosure of the seropositive status may place a burden on family and friends. Other studies focus on the types of relationships existing between people living with HIV and their loved ones (Kalichman et al., 2003; Zea et al., 2005). The results of these studies show that disclosure to one's partner and closest friends is more common than to family members, probably due to the fear of rejection and the belief that friends may respond in a more supportive way.

Another source of anxiety can be the concern about their condition being infectious. Under ART therapy, the virus cannot be transmitted by sex if a person takes antiretroviral therapy as prescribed, in order to maintain a low viral load, but anxiety can derive from decades of stigmatization and irrational beliefs, indeed a people living with HIV can fear the transmission of the virus despite the use of safer sex strategies, resulting in emotional distress. This anxiety can have consequences in one's sexual life and relationships, including fear of rejection, low sexual desire, diminished sexual freedom and a sense of isolation (on behalf of the CHIWOS Research Team et al., 2020).

Despite the fact that ART therapy has transformed HIV from a fatal to a chronic disease, anxiety related to death continues to be a problem among patients, resulting from futureoriented cognition and irrational apprehension and beliefs. It is an abnormal fear of death that can contribute to the development of several mental health disorders such as depression, nevertheless, social support and religiosity could be protective factors (Braunstein, 2004; Miller et al., 2012). Depression is one of the most common psychological disorder in people living with HIV, influencing not only the health status but also the adherence to the therapy (Abadiga, 2019; Seid et al., 2020; B. X. Tran et al., 2019).

The comorbidity of depression and HIV results in higher distress and self-stigma, loss of appetite and sleep problems. Depression is associated with a lower CD4 cell count, elevating the mortality risk and reduced adherence to therapy (Reis et al., 2020). HIV affects the immune system and triggers the release of inflammatory cytokines which induce behaviors that are similar to depressive symptoms. Moreover, as reported in the previous paragraph, chronic inflammation and alteration in dopamine can contribute to depression. Additionally, stigma, in particular self-stigma and discrimination have a strong association with depression among people living with HIV. Other variables can influence the severity of psychological problems in relation to age, gender, social support and culture. A study conducted by Ayano, Demelash, Mebratu Abraha and Tsegay (Ayano et al., 2021), underlines that adolescents and in particular adolescents living with HIV have a higher risk of being stigmatized, discriminated and marginalized in addition to manifesting higher rates of mental disorders.

Another disease associated with depression can be found in sleeping problems (Gutierrez et al., 2019; Rogers et al., 2020). Sleep disturbances are associated with disease progression, employment status, poor medication adherence and poor health outcomes, for example impaired cognition, as well as cardiovascular and metabolic disease. Sleep problems connected to anhedonia and dysphoria can also interfere in everyday functioning, work life and personal relationships, which in turn can have significant repercussions on one's mental health by instigating the development of depression, or by exacerbating or maintaining its symptoms. Abnormal sleep patterns can have multiple causes such as immune dysregulation (Cruess et al., 2003), the effects of HIV on the nervous system, and lipodystrophy caused by antiretroviral therapy. Other causes can be associated with psychosocial factors like perceived stress, poverty and substance abuse.

Another type of stigmatization is derived from the chronic nature of the aforementioned diseases, in fact, the necessity to take medication and do periodic examinations can be seen as a barrier for employers. In conclusion, these mental diseases, often interconnected, can have a notable impact on the daily life of people living with HIV, affecting QoL as a consequence.

2.4 Social relationships, Independence and Spirituality

Stigma and anxiety regarding disclosure can also affect the social well-being (Herrmann et al., 2013). The fear of rejection and social discrimination can lead the patient to selfwithdraw, restricting their social relationships and intimacy. Indeed, people affected by the fear of being stigmatized and discriminated against can become reluctant to expose their seropositive status because disclosure can be a double-edge sword, with both positive and negative impacts. On the one hand, it can elicit shame and condemnation, causing a sense of vulnerability, social isolation, low self-esteem and depression, while on the other it can be an important step in receiving social support from loved ones (Chapman Lambert et al., 2020; Hansen et al., 2009; Mi et al., 2021). Finding an appropriate support system in the community through qualified figures like psychologists, counselors and doctors, from self-help groups or peer support programs, or simply from friends and family can be an important resource for people living with HIV. This kind of support can help people living with HIV to benefit from a better

adherence to treatment, a lower probability of developing depression and anxiety, higher self-esteem and in general an increase in QoL (Reis et al., 2020). To feel supported and understood by family and friends and to be able share one's seropositive status with people living in the same situation can help people living with HIV to adjust to their seropositive condition, as this social release can be considered an external coping resource.

Being affected by HIV entails that one must face several stressors at the moment of the diagnosis, as well as during the disclosure to others, to name a few. Coping strategy, as defined by Lazarus and Folkman is, "constantly changing cognitive and behavioral efforts to manage specific external and internal demands that are appraised as taxing or exceeding the resources of the person" (R. S. Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Two kinds of coping strategies have been identified: an active problemfocused strategy based on managing the cause of the distress, and a passive emotion-focused strategy that manages the emotional distress caused by the situation (Brown et al., 2019; Moneyham et al., 1998; Pakenham & Rinaldis, 2001; Reeves et al., 1999). The individual response to said distress varies according to the situation and its mutation over time. Some evidence underlines that avoidance and denial, two passive coping strategies, are associated with positive outcomes in

dealing with short-term stressful situations, but they appear to be less effective under long term circumstances(Leserman et al., 2000). Denial is a common reaction to the diagnosis but can become deleterious if this strategy is protracted, as it is associated with increased psychological distress such as anxiety and depression, poor adjustment and delayed treatment. Some of the positive strategies that are commonly used to counteract these distressers are humor, altruism and seeking support in others.

Faith can also be used as a positive coping strategy; indeed, spirituality and religion can have protective effects; While a religion obeys a certain precept and believes in a divine entity, spirituality refers to a person's spiritual beliefs and trust in a particular religious orientation. Feeling supported by the community as well as by a supreme being can help patients to reduce health concerns, anxiety and distress by adopting a more optimistic view of their situation which can lead to a better adherence to the treatments and an increased self-esteem.

On the other hand, religion can foster HIV stigma which can interpret HIV as a punishment or can manifest intolerance to the perceived causes of HIV such as homosexuality, drug addiction or sexual promiscuity (Lassiter & Parsons, 2016; Shaw & El-Bassel, 2014; Szaflarski et al., 2006).

Employment is another important key determinant of QoL but coping with prejudices or anticipated prejudices can be difficult. Sometimes employers and coworkers can be concerned with the productivity and labor force participation of PLWHIV because of the fact that some health problems may arise, limiting certain aspects of the affected employee's functioning. Productivity losses may result from absenteeism due to health problems or medical examinations, or from presenteeism when a person can deliver a lower quantity or quality of work due to illness or fatigue. Moreover, a person affected by HIV can fear being discriminated against and stigmatized by employers and coworkers. This dread may lead them to avoid the disclosure of their pathology or their return to their job, making them feel isolated and lacking in independence (Dray-Spira et al., 2007). As research carried out by Rodger and colleagues report, this could be simply a concern derived from the fear of being rejected, in fact, only 11% of the interviewed discrimination employees reported and stigmatization, underlining a gap between precepted and actual stigma in the workplace(Rodger et al., 2010).

Work is not only a financial resource but also a source of role identity, structure and meaning as it can lead people living with HIV to develop self-esteem by making patients feel independent but also socially supported (Annequin et al., 2015; Verbooy et al., 2018; Woods et al., 2016).

CHAPTER 3: ASSESSMENT OF QOL

3.1 How a good tool is made and what it needs to measure

In order for a test to be a good measure of QOL it must possess some psychometric characteristics and assess some main dimensions.

The first important characteristic is validity and it's achieved when a test can measure what it intended to. There are four different types of validity: face validity is about whether or not a test appears to measure what it's supposed to measure and refers to how it appears on the surface; content validity investigate is a tool represent or not the content according to experts based on theory; construct validity analyze if the proposed constructs are well represented and investigated and it's divided in convergent validity, whether or not the instruments agree with other related instruments and discriminant validity which compares the tool with unrelated measures, criterion validity evaluates the accuracy with which a test measure the outcomes it was designed to measure and it's composed by two different type of criterion validity: predictive which analyzes if the instrument can predict the future outcomes and concurrent which compares the test to another wellestablished test. Another important psychometric characteristic of a test is the reliability or consistency that means that a test should present similar results even if the same person takes that test at two or more different times in different places or circumstances, guaranteeing agreement between unconnected attempts to measure the construct. following, a test should be objective that means that it shouldn't be exposed to personal or subjective judgments, avoiding bias. The last psychometric characteristic refers to the norms that provide a basis for comparison for the individual scores.

In conclusion the tool should be replicable across a range of patient populations and discriminate across a continuum from asymptomatic to people living with HIV with different levels of CD4 count. In addition, the instrument should be sensitive to the changes of health given the dynamic nature of the disease and should be easy to administer and appropriate to the setting.

As we already reported, an instrument assessing QoL of people living with HIV must assess at least social, physical and psychological domains eventually expanded the scope also analyzing spirituality, stigma, independence and employment status. There isn't an agreement about the number and nature of the dimensions of quality of life. In a 2003 study conducted by S.Skevington and O'Connell (Skevington & O'Connell, 2003) is reported that an agreement could be found on the importance of the physical domain that is common to all instruments including an assessment of pain or symptoms and independence level. Another dimension that could be found in every assessment is the psychological domain that typically evaluates negative emotional well-being. On the contrary only few instruments include cognitive functioning domain which is important to understand Aids and ART effects on Quality of life. A social domain is also included in most scale, investigating rolefunctioning and/or social support. Only really few instruments take into consideration sex concern, stigma and spiritual dimension despite their importance in managing the seropositive status.

In order to choose the best instrument, we need to have a precise idea of what we want to assess and in what field we will use the tool.

3.2 General versus specific HIV quality of life instruments

Quality of life can be assessed using generic or condition specific measures. The choice between these two kinds of measurement depends on what kind of dimension we need to investigate. Disease specific measures allows to study the impact of a specific condition to the QoL proving to be more sensitivity to change (Dutra et al., 2019; O'Brien et al., 2021).

The benefits linked to the employment of generic instruments include the possibility to compare the test results across different conditions and with a normative group thanks to the availability of normative data; besides, they allow to study the impact of HIV and comorbid conditions on quality of life. Meanwhile, generic tools may lack of sensitive to changes in disease status or treatment.

A measure frequently used in research with people with HIV is the European Quality of Life 5 Dimensions (**EQ-5D**) test (B. Tran et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2002). As we already said it can be defined as a Health-related quality of life measure divided in 5 dimensions: mobility, self-care, usual activity, pain/discomfort, anxiety/depression. the second part is composed of a visual analogue scale that assess self-report health status. This instrument has shown to be able to discriminate between different disease severity based on CD4 count and viral load (Delate & Coons, 2001; Wu et al., 2002). Regarding the convergent validity it has been compared to Medical Outcomes Study-HIV (MOS-HIV) scales showing a good correlation (Delate & Coons, 2001; Joyce et al., 2009; Leplège et al., 1997). In a systematic review conducted by Wen et al. EQ-5D demonstrate a high criterion validity but a low construct validity and internal consistency⁷ (Wen et al., 2022). On the contrary in a study conducted by Cooper et al. a good construct and convergent validity and a good response to treatment initiation and the development of opportunistic infection

Another Health-related quality of life instrument is the Health Utility Index (**HUI**) which is available in two versions HUI2 and HUI3. It is composed of 15/16 items and divided respectively in seven and eight domains. Coons et al. (Coons et

⁷ A measure based on the correlations between different item of the same test

al., 2000), describe HUI-2 as strongly related to disease severity correlating with MOS-HIV (Bayoumi & Redelmeier, 1999). Meanwhile, Hui-3 has been shown to be responsive to serious AIDS-related events showing a significant relation to viral load (Joyce et al., 2009)l. The researchers considered this test a useful measurement of QOL if utilized with an HIV specific measure. HUI-3 was, also, tested for validity and reliability in patient with advanced AIDS by Nosik et al., demonstrating good validity compared to the MOS-HIV and showing to be responsive to the changes. Wen at al. (Wen et al., 2022) reported a moderate criterion validity of the instrument.

The last HRQOL measurements I'll describe are two shot form tests derived from the Medical Outcomes Study (**MOS**).: Short Form-12 and Short Form-36. The first one composed of 12 items is divided in8 domains: physical functioning, role-physical, role-emotional, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning and mental health (Ware & Sherbourne, 1992). Wen et al. (Wen et al., 2022) reported a high construct validity and internal consistency and Gakhar, Kamali and Holodniy (Gakhar et al., 2013) reported a good validity and reliability concluding that it could be a useful instrument to investigate HRQOL in HIV population. They also reported a good correlation with disease severity. Short Form-36 composed of 36 items is divided in 9 domains: physical functioning, rolephysical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, role-emotional, mental health and reported health transition with two summary scores: physical and mental health. The reviews reported good to acceptable internal consistency and construct validity. The instrument has been also found to be responsive to how the patient reacts when they begin ART therapy, number of symptoms and changes in viral load and CD4 count

. The test has been translated in several languages and can also be electronically administrated. In the Cooper et al. systematic review and Gakhar, Kamali and Holodniy

, a good Cronbach's alpha has been found underling a good internal consistency.

World health Organization quality of life assessment short form (WHOQOL-BREF) is a QOL instrument developed from the WHOQOL-100 (previously explained) created from a collaboration between 15 countries to ensure semantic and conceptual equivalence across different languages and cultures. It's composed of 26 items and 4 domains: physical health, psychological health, social relationships and environment and it is frequently use in the assessment of QOL in people living with HIV. Good psychometric properties as discriminant construct validity, reliability, internal consistency and correlation with disease severity and CD4 count are generally reported

. Only two language versions of the instrument were rated as very low in internal consistency (Wen et al., 2022). This instrument could be used as a generic assessment of QOL in people living with HIV but to obtain a further explored profile of a person living with this particular disease it should be useful to adopt the HIV targeted instrument.

McGill Quality of life questionnaire (MQOL) is a QOL assessment that comprises 16 items and 4 domains: support, existential well-being and physical and psychological symptoms. It was created through interviews with people living with HIV. This is one of the few instruments assessing existential well-being which is a really relevant QOL dimension for people living with HIV, indeed, according to Cooper et al. reviews and Skevington et al. study (Cooper et al., 2017; Skevington & O'Connell, 2003) the face validity is increased by the inclusion of this dimension. However, it present poor discriminant validity and only one subscale scores are able to distinguish between people with HIV who had high and low CD4 counts. Clayson et al. reported a good internal consistency and test-retest reliability also resulting to be responsive to

symptoms severity, stage of illness, viral status and CD4 count

(Clayson et al., 2006; Holmes & Shea, 1998a).

3.3. Specific Quality of life instruments

WHOQOL-HIV derives from the WHOQOL-100 including some additional questions in order to investigate QoL in people living with HIV. It is composed of 101 items and six dimensions: physical, psychological, level of independence, social relations, spiritual, religion and beliefs, overall quality of life and general health (O'Connell & Skevington, 2012). Assessing independence and religion permit to investigate some of the crucial dimensions of QOL for people living with HIV. The instrument shows a good internal consistency and high construct and discriminant validity and reliability, moreover it shows to be able to distinguish between different stages of HIV disease progression. A short form, the WHOQOL-BREF, composed by 26 items and four domains similarly demonstrates good psychometric properties (Chapman Lambert et al., 2020; Cooper et al., 2017; O'Connell & Skevington, 2012; Skevington et al., 2004; Skevington & O'Connell, 2003). The Italian version also present good psychometric properties demonstrating to be a valid and reliable instrument to assess patient life satisfaction in different stage of infection (Starace et al., 2002)

The Medical Outcomes Study HIV (MOS-HIV) is the most widely used among HIV specific tools. It is based on the SF-20 and composed of 35 items across 10 domains: physical functioning, pain, social functioning, role functioning, emotional well-being, energy/fatigue, cognitive function, health distress, health transition, general health and overall quality of life, generating two different summary scores: physical and mental health. 16 items were adopted from sf-20 adding 25 items to obtain an HIV QOL measurement (Davis & Pathak, 2001; Holmes & Ruocco, 2008; Wu et al., 1997). The measure displays a good internal consistency, convergent and discriminant validity. Although the test-retest was considered inadequate (Chapman Lambert et al., 2020; Davis & Pathak, 2001; Cooper et al., 2017; O'Connell & Skevington, 2012; Wen et al., 2022) and the reviews reported mixed findings regarding construct validity, from poor to good. It shows correlation with opportunistic infections, increased symptoms of AIDS. It has been translated in 14 languages reporting different reliability and validity due to the cultural adjustment. Its extended

utilization is justified by the fact that the instrument contains some relevant dimension for people living with HIV like sex life, sleep and eating (Badia et al., 1999; Chapman Lambert et al., 2020; Cooper et al., 2017; O'Connell & Skevington, 2012; Wen et al., 2022). It was validated also an Italian version of the instrument showing good convergent and discriminant validity and reliability (Schifano et al., 2003)

HIV/AIDS-Targeted Quality of Life Instrument (HAT-QOL) created through discussion groups with people living with HIV, is composed of 42 items and 9 dimensions: health and sexual functioning, disclosure, health and financial worries, HIV mastery, life satisfaction, medication concern and provider trust (Davis & Pathak, 2001; Holmes & Ruocco, 2008; Holmes & Shea, 1998a, 1999). It shows generally good internal consistency, however it had low internal consistency in sexual functioning, HIV mastery and medication concerns dimensions (Davis & Pathak, 2001; Holmes & Shea, 1999). Regarding the validity it shows mixed results (Clayson et al., 2006; Holmes & Shea, 1998b, 1998b; Wen et al., 2022).

The Functional Assessment of HIV infection (FAHI) is an instrument adapted from a cancer scale and it is composed of 44 items and five domains: global well-being, physical well-
being, emotional well-being, social well-being and cognitive functioning. It is fairly short and quite easy to complete (Viala-Danten et al., 2010). The last version demonstrated very good psychometric properties including convergent and discriminant validity, moreover it demonstrated a good correlation to changes in the disease status (Clayson et al., 2006; Coons et al., 2000; Gakhar et al., 2013; Peterman et al., 1997; Wen et al., 2022). However, Davis and Pathak reported poor internal consistency for the HIV subscale (Davis & Pathak, 2001).

HIV quality of life-31 (HIV-QOL 31) is one of the few HIV quality of life developed outside north America. It is a French instrument created with people living with HIV guaranteeing to cover a broad range of relevant problems connected the seropositive status (Gakhar et al., 2013; Leplège et al., 1997). It is composed of 31 items and six domains: sex life, pain, psychological aspects, relationships, limitations caused by HIV, symptoms and impact of treatment and care. The measurement shows a high internal consistency and the capacity to discriminate between groups based on disease severity (Cooper et al., 2017; O'Connell & Skevington, 2012). Wen et al reported low construct validity, relevance and comprehensibility but high internal consistency (Wen et al., 2022). Despite the ability to cover a broad range of problems relevant to people living with HIV, this instrument has not been widely used to assess QOL in People living with HIV so few psychometric data are available.

The Multidimensional QOL for patients with HIIV/AIDS (**MQOL-HIV**) is a 40 items instrument assessing 10 domains developed through interviews with patients affected by HIV: Physical health, physical functioning, mental health, social functioning, cognitive functioning, social support, financial status, sexual functioning, partner intimacy and access to care (Cooper et al., 2017; Sguazzin et al., 2010; Smith et al., 1997).

Smith et al. reported a good internal consistency reliability and test-retest reliability and the domains are responsive to changes in disease severity and viral load discriminating between different groups of patients. (Clayson et al., 2006; Smith et al., 1997; Woods et al., 2016). At the contrary O'Connell and Skevington (O'Connell & Skevington, 2012) state that only five dimensions and the index are sensitive to clinical changes also reporting a poor internal consistency in physical and mental health and physical and sexual functioning. Also a Spanish study conducted by Badia et al (Badia et al., 2000) reports a poor test-retest reliability and inadequate discrimination between disease stages.

The PROQOL-HIV (Duracinsky et al., 2012) is a test developed through interviews with people living with HIV and it is composed of 43 items assessing 8 domains: Physical health and symptoms, treatment, impact, emotional distress, health intimate relationships, concerns, body change, social relationships and stigma. It is one of the few instruments taking into consideration the patient's experience with treatments (Cooper et al., 2017). Wen et al (Wen et al., 2022) indicate a moderate construct validity, a high internal consistency and criterion validity but a low reliability. As reported by Duracinsky et al. (Duracinsky et al., 2012) the content validity as maintained including cultural nuances, finding common threads but also remaining vigilant to differences, also wording items differently for some particular countries.

CONCLUSION

During our analysis we underling that Quality of life is a construct without a univocal definition and with a variable set of different dimensions to assess. This eclectic characteristic is reflected in the assessment that can take into consideration different dimensions of the construct defining different instruments.

In the specific case of people living with HIV we need to pose some question to us. 1.What's the purpose of our analysis? The selection of the instruments can change if we are assessing quality of life in a specific subject in order to understand some QOL dimension or if we are leading a research; 2. What kind of dimensions we want to access? It is important to understand what's the aim of our assessment choosing the right instrument based on what dimensions it can assess, perhaps we can choose a general instrument in order to study the general QOL, a specific instrument to assess the critical dimensions connected to HIV QOL, remaining sensitive to changes in the disease status, or the combination of the two to have the complete picture; the last question regards the psychometric characteristics of the instruments that can vary from an instrument to another and on the basis of the cultural contest in which it is applied and the language in which it is translated.

As already said, the use of a general instrument like EQ-5, MOS or HUI, allow us to compare the results cross different conditions or a normative group and study the impact of HIV and comorbidities in QOL. Among the reported generic instruments, the SF-36 has more evidence supporting its use in HIV and can be helpful to have also a shorter version like SF-12 in case the length of the test became a problem. If the target of the test is an asymptomatic HIV infected people, it isn't recommended to choose the Eq-5D test because of its pronounced ceiling effect.

Regarding the HIV specific measures MOS-HIV and FAHI are brief and practical to administer and are being created through HIV patients inputs; MOS-HIV in particular has been used in multiple clinical trials and studies offering comparability. FAHI is a more specific instrument focused on treatment-related problems. MOS-HIV and SF-36 couldn't been used together because they share many items and domains.

WHOQOL-HIV BREF and PROQOL-HIV have been recently developed so there are few psychometrical studies, but they are the most cross-culturally valid instruments.

If the purpose is to evaluate the treatments responsiveness is essential so we could use MOS-HIV, EQ-5D and SF-36.

In clinical practice we need to utilize a valid and reliable but also simple to complete and score instrument, so MOS-HIV couldn't be the right choice because it is easy to administer but difficult to score because it includes different rating scales and response options.

To conclude we can't chose an instrument without taking in consideration this main information, understand the different defining models, and dimensions of the concept can help us to acquire awareness about what instruments can suits our necessity based on what analysis we are implementing, in what field we are we are operating and what are the dimensions we want to assess (Clayson et al., 2006; Emerge Consortium et al., 2017).

BIBLIOGRAFIA

- Agrati, L. (2019). La 'variabilità linguistica' del costrutto di Qualità della Vita. Uno studio sugli atteggiamenti degli operatori del servizio di orientamento. *EDUCATION SCIENCES AND SOCIETY*, 1, 170–189. https://doi.org/10.3280/ess1-20190a7989
- Algarin, A. B., Li, Y., Cohen, R. A., Cook, C. L., Brumback, B., Cook, R. L., & Ibañez, G. E. (2021). HIV-related stigma and life goals among people living with HIV (PLWH) in Florida. *Quality of Life Research*, 30(3), 781–789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-020-02687-z
- Annequin, M., Lert, F., Spire, B., & Dray-Spira, R. (2015). Has the employment status of people living with HIV changed since the early 2000s? *AIDS*, 29(12), 1537–1547. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000000022
- Aouizerat, B. E., Gay, C. L., Lerdal, A., Portillo, C. J., & Lee, K. A. (2013). Lack of Energy: An Important and Distinct Component of HIV-Related Fatigue and Daytime Function. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 45(2), 191–201.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2012.01.011

- Armstrong, N. M., Surkan, P. J., Treisman, G. J., Sacktor, N. C., Irwin, M. R., Teplin, L. A., Stall, R., Martin, E. M., Becker, J. T., Munro, C., Levine, A. J., Jacobson, L. P., & Abraham, A. G. (2017). Association of long-term patterns of depressive symptoms and attention/executive function among older men with and without human immunodeficiency virus. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 23(4), 558–567. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13365-017-0527-y
- Badia, X., Podzamczer, D., Casado, A., López-Lavid, C. C., García, M., & and the Spanish MOS-HIV and MQOL-HIV Validation Group. (2000). Evaluating changes in health status in HIV-infected patients: Medical Outcomes Study-HIV and Multidimensional Quality of Life-HIV quality of life questionnaires. *AIDS*, 14(10). https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/07070/Evaluating_changes_in_health_sta tus_in.18.aspx
- Badia, X., Podzamczer, D., Garcia, M., López-Lavid C, C., Consiglio, E., & the Spanish MOS-HIV and MQOL-HIV Validation Group. (1999). A randomized study comparing instruments for measuring health-related quality of life in _HIV-infected patients. *AIDS*, *13*(13).

https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/1999/09100/A_randomized_study_comparing_ instruments for.17.aspx

- Bayoumi, A. M., & Redelmeier, D. A. (1999). Economic methods for measuring the quality of life associated with HIV infection. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 8(6), 471–480. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1008969512182
- Bertelli, M. O., Bianco, A., Piva Merli, M., Scuticchio, D., Lassi, S., Lorenzoni, L., Carbone

Viviani, D., & Brown, I. (2016). Psychometric Properties of the Italian Adaptation of a Quality of Life Instrument as Applied to Adults With Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities: Italian Adaptation of the QoL-IP. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, *13*(3), 227–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jppi.12158</u>

- Bertelli, M., Merli, P.M., Bianco, A., Lassi, S., La Malfa, G., Placidi, G. F., Brown, I. (2011). La batteria di strumenti per l'indagine della Qualità di Vita (BASIQ): validazione dell'adattamento italiano del Quality of Life Instrument Package (QoL-IP), giornale italiano di psicopatologia
- Bognar, G. & Department of Philosophy, Florida State University. (2005). The Concept of Quality of Life: *Social Theory and Practice*, *31*(4), 561–580. https://doi.org/10.5840/soctheorpract200531426
- Braunstein, J. W. (2004). An Investigation of Irrational Beliefs and Death Anxiety as a Function of HIV Status. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 22(1), 21–38. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JORE.0000011575.81999.0d
- Brown, M. J., Serovich, J. M., Laschober, T. C., Kimberly, J. A., & Lescano, C. M. (2019).
 Ways of coping and HIV disclosure among people living with HIV: Mediation of decision self-efficacy and moderation by sex. *AIDS Care*, *31*(8), 1001–1010. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2019.1605045
- Buntinx, W. H. E., & Schalock, R. L. (2010). Models of Disability, Quality of Life, and Individualized Supports: Implications for Professional Practice in Intellectual Disability: Models of Disability, Quality of Life, and Individualized Supports. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 7(4), 283–294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-1130.2010.00278.x
- Burckhardt, M., Fleischer, S., & Berg, A. (2020). Agreement between the Schedule for the

Evaluation of Individual Quality of Life-Direct Weighting (SEIQoL-DW) interview and a paper-administered adaption. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(1), 80. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-020-00961-9

- Busija, L., Pausenberger, E., Haines, T. P., Haymes, S., Buchbinder, R., & Osborne, R. H. (2011). Adult measures of general health and health-related quality of life: Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36-Item (SF-36) and Short Form 12-Item (SF-12) Health Surveys, Nottingham Health Profile (NHP), Sickness Impact Profile (SIP), Medical Outcomes Study Sh. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 63(S11), S383–S412. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20541
- Castellon, S. A., Hinkin, C. H., & Myers, H. F. (2000). Neuropsychiatric disturbance is associated with executive dysfunction in HIV-1 infection. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 6(3), 336–347. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617700633088
- Chapman Lambert, C., Westfall, A., Modi, R., Amico, R. K., Golin, C., Keruly, J., Quinlivan, E. B., Crane, H. M., Zinski, A., Turan, B., Turan, J. M., & Mugavero, M. J. (2020). HIV-related stigma, depression, and social support are associated with health-related quality of life among patients newly entering HIV care. *AIDS Care*, *32*(6), 681–688. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2019.1622635
- Chartier, M., Crouch, P.-C., Tullis, V., Catella, S., Frawley, E., Filanosky, C., Carmody, T., McQuaid, J., Lampiris, H., & Wong, J. K. (2015). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment: A Pilot Study of a Brief Screening Tool for Mild and Moderate Cognitive Impairment in HIV-Positive Veterans. *Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care* (*JIAPAC*), 14(3), 197–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325957414557270
- Clayson, D. J., Wild, D. J., Quarterman, P., Duprat-Lomon, I., Kubin, M., & Coons, S. J. (2006). A Comparative Review of Health-Related Quality-of-Life Measures for Use in

 HIV/AIDS
 Clinical
 Trials:
 PharmacoEconomics,
 24(8),
 751–765.

 https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200624080-00003

- Cohen, S. R., Russell, L. B., Leis, A., Shahidi, J., Porterfield, P., Kuhl, D. R., Gadermann, A. M., & Sawatzky, R. (2019). More comprehensively measuring quality of life in life-threatening illness: The McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire Expanded. *BMC Palliative Care*, *18*(1), 92. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-019-0473-y
- Comer, L. K., Henker, B., Kemeny, M., & Wyatt, G. (2000). Illness disclosure and mental health among women with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, *10*(6), 449–464. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1298(200011/12)10:6<449::AID-CASP577>3.0.CO;2-N
- Coons, S. J., Rao, S., Keininger, D. L., & Hays, R. D. (2000). A Comparative Review of Generic Quality-of-Life Instruments: *PharmacoEconomics*, 17(1), 13–35. https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200017010-00002
- Cruess, D. G., Antoni, M. H., Gonzalez, J., Fletcher, M. A., Klimas, N., Duran, R., Ironson, G., & Schneiderman, N. (2003). Sleep disturbance mediates the association between psychological distress and immune status among HIV-positive men and women on combination antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *54*(3), 185–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00501-9
- Cummins, R. A. (2000). Objective and Subjective Quality of Life: an Interactive Model. Social Indicators Research, 52(1), 55–72. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007027822521
- Cummins, R. A. (2001). Living with support in the community: Predictors of satisfaction with life. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 7(2), 99– 104. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.1014
- Cummins, R. A. (2005). Moving from the quality of life concept to a theory. Journal of

Intellectual Disability Research, 49(10), 699–706. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2005.00738.x

- da Silva, J. G., da Rocha Morgan, D. A., Melo, F. C. M., dos Santos, I. K., de Azevedo, K. P. M., de Medeiros, H. J., & Knackfuss, M. I. (2017). Level of pain and quality of life of people living with HIV/AIDS pain and quality of life in HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Care*, *29*(8), 1041–1048. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2016.1274013
- Davis, E. A., & Pathak, D. S. (2001). Psychometric Evaluation of Four HIV Disease— Specific Quality-of-Life Instruments. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 35(5), 546–552. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.10222
- de Medeiros, K. S., da Silva, L. A. S., Macêdo, L. T. de A., Sarmento, A. C., Costa, A. P. F., Eleutério Jr, J., & Gonçalves, A. K. (2021). Potential impact of the COVID-19 in HIV-infected individuals: A systematic review Impact of the COVID-19 in HIV-Infected Individuals. *Revista da Associação Médica Brasileira*, 67(suppl 1), 127–156. https://doi.org/10.1590/1806-9282.67.suppl1.20200754
- Deacon, H. (2006). Towards a sustainable theory of health-related stigma: Lessons from the HIV/AIDS literature. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, *16*(6), 418–425. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.900
- Delate, T., & Coons, S. J. (2001). The Use of 2 Health-Related Quality-of-Life Measures in a Sample of Persons Infected with Human Immunodeficiency Virus. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 32(3), e47–e52. https://doi.org/10.1086/318492
- Diener, E., & Suh, E. (1997). MEASURING QUALITY OF LIFE: ECONOMIC, SOCIAL, AND SUBJECTIVE INDICATORS. Social Indicators Research, 40(1/2), 189–216. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006859511756
- Dray-Spira, R., Gueguen, A., Ravaud, J.-F., & Lert, F. (2007). Socioeconomic Differences

in the Impact of HIV Infection on Workforce Participation in France in the Era of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(3), 552–558. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.081083

- Duracinsky, M., Herrmann, S., Berzins, B., Armstrong, A. R., Kohli, R., Le Coeur, S., Diouf, A., Fournier, I., Schechter, M., & Chassany, O. (2012). The Development of PROQOL-HIV: An International Instrument to Assess the Health-Related Quality of Life of Persons Living With HIV/AIDS. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 59(5), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e318245cafe
- Dutra, B. S., Lédo, A. P., Lins-Kusterer, L., Luz, E., Prieto, I. R., & Brites, C. (2019). Changes health-related quality of life in HIV-infected patients following initiation of antiretroviral therapy: A longitudinal study. *The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 23(4), 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjid.2019.06.005
- Earnshaw, V. A., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2009). From Conceptualizing to Measuring HIV Stigma: A Review of HIV Stigma Mechanism Measures. *AIDS and Behavior*, *13*(6), 1160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-009-9593-3
- Ebrahim, S. (1995). Clinical and public health perspectives and applications of healthrelated quality of life measurement. *Social Science & Medicine*, 41(10), 1383–1394. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(95)00116-O
- Cooper, V., Clatworthy, J., Harding, R., & Whetham, J. (2017). Measuring quality of life among people living with HIV: A systematic review of reviews. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 15(1), 220. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-017-0778-6
- Etienne, N., Karmochkine, M., Slama, L., Pavie, J., Batisse, D., Usubillaga, R., Letembet, V.-A., Brazille, P., Canouï, E., Slama, D., Joumaa, H., Canoui-Poitrine, F., Segaux, L., Weiss, L., Viard, J.-P., & Salmon, D. (2020). HIV infection and COVID-19: Risk factors for

severe disease. AIDS, 34(12), 1771-1774. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0000000002651

- Evangeli, M., & Wroe, A. L. (2017). HIV Disclosure Anxiety: A Systematic Review and Theoretical Synthesis. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-016-1453-3
- Fekete, E. M., Antoni, M. H., Durán, R., Stoelb, B. L., Kumar, M., & Schneiderman, N. (2009). Disclosing HIV Serostatus to Family Members: Effects on Psychological and Physiological Health in Minority Women Living with HIV. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 16(4), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-009-9041-9
- Felce, D. (1997). Defining and applying the concept of quality of life. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, *41*(2), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.1997.tb00689.x
- Felce, D., & Perry, J. (1995). Quality of life: Its definition and measurement. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 16(1), 51–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-4222(94)00028-8
- Gakhar, H., Kamali, A., & Holodniy, M. (2013). Health-related Quality of Life Assessment after Antiretroviral Therapy: A Review of the Literature. *Drugs*, 73(7), 651–672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40265-013-0040-4
- Gómez, L. E., Verdugo, M. Á., Arias, B., & Arias, V. (2011). A Comparison of Alternative Models of Individual Quality of Life for Social Service Recipients. *Social Indicators Research*, 101(1), 109–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-010-9639-y
- Gutierrez, J., Tedaldi, E. M., Armon, C., Patel, V., Hart, R., & Buchacz, K. (2019). Sleep disturbances in HIV-infected patients associated with depression and high risk of obstructive sleep apnea. *SAGE Open Medicine*, 7, 205031211984226. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312119842268
- Hadi, Y. B., Naqvi, S. F. Z., Kupec, J. T., & Sarwari, A. R. (2020). Characteristics and outcomes of COVID-19 in patients with HIV: A multicentre research network study. *AIDS*,

34(13), F3-F8. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000002666

- Han, X., Hou, H., Xu, J., Ren, J., Li, S., Wang, Y., Yang, H., & Wang, Y. (2022). Significant association between HIV infection and increased risk of COVID-19 mortality: A meta-analysis based on adjusted effect estimates. *Clinical and Experimental Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10238-022-00840-1
- Hansen, N. B., Vaughan, E. L., Cavanaugh, C. E., Connell, C. M., & Sikkema, K. J. (2009). Health-related quality of life in bereaved HIV-positive adults: Relationships between HIV symptoms, grief, social support, and Axis II indication. *Health Psychology*, 28(2), 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013168
- Heggenhougen, K., & Quah, S. R. (2008). International encyclopedia of public health. Elsevier.
- Herrmann, S., McKinnon, E., Hyland, N. B., Lalanne, C., Mallal, S., Nolan, D., Chassany, O., & Duracinsky, M. (2013). HIV-related stigma and physical symptoms have a persistent influence on health-related quality of life in Australians with HIV infection. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 11(1), 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-11-56
- Hickey, A. M., Bury, G., O'Boyle, C. A., Bradley, F., O'Kelly, F. D., & Shannon, W. (1996). A new short form individual quality of life measure (SEIQoL-DW): Application in a cohort of individuals with HIV/AIDS. *BMJ*, *313*(7048), 29–33. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.313.7048.29
- Holmes, W. C., & Ruocco, J. E. (2008). Test-retest evaluation of HAT-QoL and SF-36 in an HIV-seropositive sample. *AIDS Care*, 20(9), 1084–1092. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120701797437
- Holmes, W. C., & Shea, J. A. (1998a). A New HIV/AIDS-Targeted Quality of Life (HAT-QoL) Instrument: Development, Reliability, and Validity. *Medical Care*, 36(2), 138–154.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199802000-00004

- Holmes, W. C., & Shea, J. A. (1998b). A New HIV/AIDS-Targeted Quality of Life (HAT-QoL) Instrument: Development, Reliability, and Validity. *Medical Care*, *36*(2), 138–154. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199802000-00004
- Holmes, W. C., & Shea, J. A. (1999). Two approaches to measuring quality of life in the HIV/AIDS population: HAT-QoL and MOS-HIV. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 8(6), 515–527. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1008931006866
- Hult, J. R., Wrubel, J., Bränström, R., Acree, M., & Moskowitz, J. T. (2012). Disclosure and Nondisclosure Among People Newly Diagnosed with HIV: An Analysis from a Stress and Coping Perspective. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 26(3), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2011.0282
- Jankowska, E. (2015). Social indicators and the measure of the quality of life. *Toruńskie Studia Międzynarodowe*, 1(7), 5. https://doi.org/10.12775/TIS.2014.001
- Janssen, M. A. M., Meulenbroek, O., Steens, S. C. A., Góraj, B., Bosch, M., Koopmans, P. P., & Kessels, R. P. C. (2015). Cognitive functioning, wellbeing and brain correlates in HIV-1 infected patients on long-term combination antiretroviral therapy. *AIDS*, 29(16), 2139–2148. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000000824
- Joyce, V. R., Barnett, P. G., Bayoumi, A. M., Griffin, S. C., Kyriakides, T. C., Yu, W., Sundaram, V., Holodniy, M., Brown, S. T., Cameron, W., Youle, M., Sculpher, M., Anis, A. H., & Owens, D. K. (2009). Health-related quality of life in a randomized trial of antiretroviral therapy for advanced HIV disease. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes (1999)*, 50(1), 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e31818ce6f3
- K Chepkondol, G., E Jolly, P., Yatich, N., Mbowe, O., & G Jaoko, W. (2020). Types and

prevalence of HIV-related opportunistic infections/conditions among HIV-positive patients attending Kenyatta National Hospital in Nairobi, Kenya. *African Health Sciences*, 20(2), 615–624. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v20i2.9

- Kalichman, S. C., DiMarco, M., Austin, J., Luke, W., & DiFonzo, K. (2003Stress, Social Support, and HIV-Status Disclosure to Family and Friends Among HIV-Positive Men and Women. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 26(4), 315–332. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024252926930
- Kamat, R., Morgan, E., Marcotte, T. D., Badiee, J., Maich, I., Cherner, M., Almeida, S. de, de Pereira, A. P., Ribeiro, C. E., Barbosa, F., Atkinson, J. H., & Ellis, R. (2013). Implications of apathy and depression for everyday functioning in HIV/AIDS in Brazil. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *150*(3), 1069–1075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.11.040
- Karimi, M., & Brazier, J. (2016). Health, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Quality of Life: What is the Difference? *PharmacoEconomics*, 34(7), 645–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-016-0389-9
- Keyes, C. L. M. (1998). Social Well-Being. Social Psychology Quarterly, 61(2), 121. https://doi.org/10.2307/2787065
- Lançon, C., Auquier, P., Toumi, M., Launois, R., Llorca, P. M., Lehman, A. F., & Bebbington, P. E. (2004). Validation of the brief Quality of Life Interview (QoLI): I. Internal structure.
- Laranjeira, C. A. (2008). THE DILEMMAS OF THE «QUALITY OF LIFE» CONCEPT IN PSYCHOLOGICAL PRACTICE. *PSYCHOLOGIA*, 51(4), 304–318. https://doi.org/10.2117/psysoc.2008.304
- Lassiter, J. M., & Parsons, J. T. (2016). Religion and Spirituality's Influences on HIV

Syndemics Among MSM: A Systematic Review and Conceptual Model. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(2), 461–472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-1173-0

- Lau, A. L. D., Cummins, R. A., & Mcpherson, W. (2005). An Investigation into the Cross-Cultural Equivalence of the Personal Wellbeing Index. *Social Indicators Research*, 72(3), 403–430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-004-0561-z
- Laurence, J. (2020). Why Aren't People Living with HIV at Higher Risk for Developing Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)? *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, *34*(6), 247– 248. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2020.29005.com
- Lazarus, J. V., Safreed-Harmon, K., Barton, S. E., Costagliola, D., Dedes, N., del Amo Valero, J., Gatell, J. M., Baptista-Leite, R., Mendão, L., Porter, K., Vella, S., & Rockstroh, J. K. (2016). Beyond viral suppression of HIV the new quality of life frontier. *BMC Medicine*, *14*(1), 94, s12916-016-0640–0644. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0640-4
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Lehman, A. F. (1983). The Well-being of Chronic Mental Patients: Assessing Their Quality of Life. Archives of General Psychiatry, 40(4), 369. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1983.01790040023003
- Leplège, A., Rude, N., Ecosse, E., Ceinos, R., Dohin, E., & Pouchot, J. (1997). Measuring quality of life from the point of view of HIV-positive subjects: the HIV-QL31. *Quality of Life Research*, 6(6), 585–594. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018468301617
- Leserman, J., Petitto, J. M., Golden, R. N., Gaynes, B. N., Gu, H., Perkins, D. O., Silva, S. G., Folds, J. D., & Evans, D. L. (2000). Impact of Stressful Life Events, Depression, Social Support, Coping, and Cortisol on Progression to AIDS. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *157*(8), 1221–1228. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.157.8.1221
- Lorenc, A., Ananthavarathan, P., Lorigan, J., Banarsee, R., Jowata, M., & Brook, G. (2014).

The prevalence of comorbidities among people living with HIV in Brent: A diverse London Borough. *London Journal of Primary Care*, 6(4), 84–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/17571472.2014.11493422

- Madden, V. J., Parker, R., & Goodin, B. R. (2020). Chronic pain in people with HIV: A common comorbidity and threat to quality of life. *Pain Management*, *10*(4), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.2217/pmt-2020-0004
- Meyer, D., Slone, S. E., Ogungbe, O., Duroseau, B., & Farley, J. E. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on HIV Healthcare Service Engagement, Treatment Adherence, and Viral Suppression in the United States: A Systematic Literature Review. *AIDS and Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-022-03771-w
- Mi, T., Zhou, G., Li, X., Qiao, S., Yang, X., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2021). The association between HIV disclosure to family members and quality of life among people living with HIV/AIDS: The indirect effects through social support. *Current Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01927-w
- Miller, A. K., Lee, B. L., & Henderson, C. E. (2012). Death Anxiety in Persons with HIV/AIDS: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Death Studies*, 36(7), 640–663. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2011.604467
- Moneyham, L., Hennessy, M., Sowell, R., Demi, A., Seals, B., & Mizuno, Y. (1998). The effectiveness of coping strategies used by HIV-seropositive women. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *21*(4), 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-240X(199808)21:4<351::AID-NUR7>3.0.CO;2-E
- Noll, H.-H. (2004). Social Indicators and Quality of Life Research: Background, Achievements and Current Trends. In N. Genov (A c. Di), *Advances in Sociological Knowledge* (pp. 151–181). VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-663-09215-5_7

- O'Brien, N., Chi, Y.-L., & Krause, K. R. (2021). Measuring Health Outcomes in HIV: Time to Bring in the Patient Experience. *Annals of Global Health*, 87(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.2958
- O'Connell, K. A., & Skevington, S. M. (2012). An International Quality of Life Instrument to Assess Wellbeing in Adults Who are HIV-Positive: A Short Form of the WHOQOL-HIV (31 items). *AIDS and Behavior*, *16*(2), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-010-9863-0
- Oguntibeju, O. (2012). Quality of life of people living with HIV and AIDS and antiretroviral therapy. *HIV/AIDS - Research and Palliative Care*, 117. https://doi.org/10.2147/HIV.S32321
- Okoli, C., de los Rios, P., Eremin, A., Brough, G., Young, B., & Short, D. (2020). Relationship Between Polypharmacy and Quality of Life Among People in 24 Countries Living With HIV. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 17, 190359. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.190359
- on behalf of the CHIWOS Research Team, Carter, A., Patterson, S., Kestler, M., de Pokomandy, A., Hankins, C., Gormley, B., Nicholson, V., Lee, M., Wang, L., Greene, S., Loutfy, M., & Kaida, A. (2020). Sexual Anxiety Among Women Living with HIV in the Era of Antiretroviral Treatment Suppressing HIV Transmission. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, *17*(4), 765–779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-020-00432-2
- On behalf of the HALL (HIV and Later Life) Team, Catalan, J., Tuffrey, V., Ridge, D., & Rosenfeld, D. (2017). What influences quality of life in older people living with HIV? *AIDS Research and Therapy*, *14*(1), 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12981-017-0148-9
- Pakenham, K. I., & Rinaldis, M. (2001). The role of illness, resources, appraisal, and coping strategies in adjustment to HIV/AIDS: The direct and buffering effects. *Journal of*

Behavioral Medicine, 24(3), 259–279. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1010718823753

- Peterman, A. H., Cella, D., Mo, F., & McCain, N. (1997). Psychometric validation of the revised Functional Assessment of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection (FAHI) quality of life instrument. *Quality of Life Research*, 6(6), 572–584. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018416317546
- Quinn, D. M., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2009). Living with a concealable stigmatized identity: The impact of anticipated stigma, centrality, salience, and cultural stigma on psychological distress and health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97(4), 634–651. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015815
- Raphael, D., Brown, I., Renwick, R., & Rootman, I. (1996). Assessing the Quality of Life of Persons with Developmental Disabilities: Description of a New Model, Measuring Instruments, and Initial Findings. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 43(1), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/0156655960430103
- Raphael, D., Renwick, R., Brown, I., & Rootman, I. (1996). Quality of life indicators and health: Current status and emerging conceptions. *Social Indicators Research*, 39(1), 65–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00300833
- Rebeiro Gruhl, K., Lacarte, S., Boucher, M., & Ledrew, L. (2018). Being, belonging and becoming: Development of the 3B Scale. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 65(5), 354–362. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12468
- Reeves, P. M., Merriam, S. B., & Courtenay, B. C. (1999). Adaptation to HIV Infection: The Development of Coping Strategies Over Time. *Qualitative Health Research*, 9(3), 344– 361. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973299129121901
- Reis, A., Lencastre, L., Jonsson, C., & Guerra, M. P. (2020). Treatment Adherence, Meaning in Life and Affects in Quality of Life of HIV/AIDS Patients. *Journal of Happiness*

Studies, 21(7), 2405–2417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-019-00182-y

- Robertson, K., Bayon, C., Molina, J.-M., McNamara, P., Resch, C., Muñoz-Moreno, J. A., Kulasegaram, R., Schewe, K., Burgos-Ramirez, A., De Alvaro, C., Cabrero, E., Guion, M., Norton, M., & van Wyk, J. (2014). Screening for neurocognitive impairment, depression, and anxiety in HIV-infected patients in Western Europe and Canada. *AIDS Care*, *26*(12), 1555–1561. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2014.936813
- Rodger, A. J., Brecker, N., Bhagani, S., Fernandez, T., Johnson, M., Tookman, A., & Bartley, A. (2010). Attitudes and barriers to employment in HIV-positive patients. *Occupational Medicine*, 60(6), 423–429. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqq077
- Rogers, B. G., Lee, J. S., Bainter, S. A., Bedoya, C. A., Pinkston, M., & Safren, S. A. (2020). A multilevel examination of sleep, depression, and quality of life in people living with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(10–11), 1556–1566. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105318765632
- Rubin, L. H., Cook, J. A., Springer, G., Weber, K. M., Cohen, M. H., Martin, E. M., Valcour, V. G., Benning, L., Alden, C., Milam, J., Anastos, K., Young, M. A., Gustafson, D. R., Sundermann, E. E., & Maki, P. M. (2017). Perceived and posttraumatic stress is associated with decreased learning, memory, and fluency in HIV-infected women. *AIDS*, *31*(17), 2393–2401. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.000000000001625
- Rubin, L. H., & Maki, P. M. (2019). HIV, Depression, and Cognitive Impairment in the Era of Effective Antiretroviral Therapy. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 16(1), 82–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00421-0
- Rzeszutek, M., Gruszczyńska, E., Pięta, M., & Malinowska, P. (2021). HIV/AIDS stigma and psychological well-being after 40 years of HIV/AIDS: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 12(1), 1990527.

https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.1990527

- Sachdev, D., Mara, E., Hsu, L., Scheer, S., Rutherford, G., Enanoria, W., & Gandhi, M. (2021). COVID-19 Susceptibility and Outcomes Among People Living With HIV in San Francisco. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 86(1), 19–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.00000000002531
- Schalock, R. L., Bonham, G. S., & Verdugo, M. A. (2008). The conceptualization and measurement of quality of life: Implications for program planning and evaluation in the field of intellectual disabilities. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *31*(2), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2008.02.001
- Schalock, R. L., Verdugo, M. A., Gomez, L. E., & Reinders, H. S. (2016). Moving Us Toward a Theory of Individual Quality of Life. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *121*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-121.1.1
- Schalock, R. L., Verdugo, M. A., Jenaro, C., Wang, M., Wehmeyer, M., Jiancheng, X., & Lachapelle, Y. (2005). Cross-Cultural Study of Quality of Life Indicators. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, *110*(4), 298. https://doi.org/10.1352/0895-8017(2005)110[298:CSOQOL]2.0.CO;2
- Sguazzin, C., Giorgi, I., Alesii, A., & Fini, M. (2010). Italian validation of the McGill Quality of Life Questionnaire (MQOL-It). *Giornale Italiano Di Medicina Del Lavoro Ed Ergonomia*, 32(3 Suppl B), B58-62.
- Shaw, S. A., & El-Bassel, N. (2014). The Influence of Religion on Sexual HIV Risk. AIDS and Behavior, 18(8), 1569–1594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-014-0714-2
- Skevington, S. M., Lotfy, M., & O'Connell, K. A. (2004). The World Health Organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: Psychometric properties and results of the international field trial. A Report from the WHOQOL Group. *Quality of Life Research*,

13(2), 299-310. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00

- Skevington, S. M., & O'Connell, K. A. (2003). Measuring Quality of Life in HIV and AIDS: A Review of the Recent Literature. *Psychology & Health*, 18(3), 331–350. https://doi.org/10.1080/0887044031000084030
- Smith, K. W., Swislow, L., Avis, N. E., & Mayer, K. H. (1997 A systematic review of quality of life research in medicine and health sciences. *Quality of Life Research*, 6(6), 555–560. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018412216638
- Suwanwongse, K., & Shabarek, N. (2020). Clinical features and outcome of HIV/SARS-CoV-2 coinfected patients in The Bronx, New York city. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 92(11), 2387–2389. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26077
- Szaflarski, M., Ritchey, P. N., Leonard, A. C., Mrus, J. M., Peterman, A. H., Ellison, C. G., McCullough, M. E., & Tsevat, J. (2006). Modeling the effects of spirituality/religion on patients' perceptions of living with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *21*(S5), S28–S38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00646.x
- Townsend-White, C., Pham, A. N. T., & Vassos, M. V. (2012). Review: A systematic review of quality of life measures for people with intellectual disabilities and challenging behaviours: A systematic review of quality of life measures. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 56(3), 270–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01427.x
- Tran, B., Ohinmaa, A., & Nguyen, L. (2012). Quality of life profile and psychometric properties of the EQ-5D-5L in HIV/AIDS patients. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 10(1), 132. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-10-132
- Van Hecke, N., Claes, C., Vanderplasschen, W., De Maeyer, J., De Witte, N., & Vandevelde, S. (2018). Conceptualisation and Measurement of Quality of Life Based on Schalock and Verdugo's Model: A Cross-Disciplinary Review of the Literature. *Social*

Indicators Research, 137(1), 335-351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1596-2

- Verbooy, K., Wagener, M., Kaddouri, M., Roelofs, P., Miedema, H., van Gorp, E., Brouwer, W., & van Exel, J. (2018). Are people living with HIV less productive at work? *AIDS Care*, 30(10), 1265–1272. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2018.1447076
- Verdugo, M. A., Navas, P., Gómez, L. E., & Schalock, R. L. (2012). The concept of quality of life and its role in enhancing human rights in the field of intellectual disability: QoL and rights in persons with ID. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 56(11), 1036–1045. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2012.01585.x
- Verdugo, M. A., Schalock, R. L., Keith, K. D., & Stancliffe, R. J. (2005). Quality of life and its measurement: Important principles and guidelines. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 49(10), 707–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2788.2005.00739.x
- Viala-Danten, M., Dubois, D., Gilet, H., Martin, S., Peeters, K., & Cella, D. (2010). Psychometric evaluation of the functional assessment of HIV Infection (FAHI) questionnaire and its usefulness in clinical trials. *Quality of Life Research*, 19(8), 1215–1227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-010-9674-
- Ware, J. E., & Sherbourne, C. D. (1992). The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): I. Conceptual Framework and Item Selection. *Medical Care*, 30(6), 473–483. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199206000-00002
- Wen, H., Yang, Z., Zhu, Z., Han, S., Zhang, L., & Hu, Y. (2022). Psychometric properties of self-reported measures of health-related quality of life in people living with HIV: A systematic review. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 20(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-021-01910-w
- Who (2012), WHOQOL User manual, programme on mental health, WHO/HIS/HIS Rev. 2012.03

- Woods, S. P., Iudicello, J. E., Morgan, E. E., Cameron, M. V., Doyle, K. L., Smith, T. V., & Cushman, C. (2016). Health-Related Everyday Functioning in the Internet Age: HIV-Associated Neurocognitive Disorders Disrupt Online Pharmacy and Health Chart Navigation Skills. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, acv090. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acv090
- Wu, A. W., Jacobson, K. L., Frick, K. D., Clark, R., Revicki, D. A., Freedberg, K. A., Scott-Lennox, J., & Feinberg, J. (2002). Validity and responsiveness of the euroqol as a measure of health-related quality of life in people enrolled in an AIDS clinical trial. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 11(3), 273–282. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1015240103565
- Wu, A. W., Revicki, D. A., Jacobson, D., & Malitz, F. E. (1997). Evidence for reliability, validity and usefulness of the Medical Outcomes Study HIV health survey (MOSHIV). *Qual Life Res*, 6.
- Zea, M. C., Reisen, C. A., Poppen, P. J., Bianchi, F. T., & Echeverry, J. J. (2005). Disclosure of HIV Status and Psychological Well-Being Among Latino Gay and Bisexual Men. *AIDS and Behavior*, 9(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-005-1678-z
- Zhou, G., Li, X., Qiao, S., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). HIV symptom management selfefficacy mediates the relationship of internalized stigma and quality of life among people living with HIV in China. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(3), 311–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105317715077</u>

I APPENDIX: WHOQOL-HIV TOOL

Please read each question, assess your feelings, and circle the number on the scale for each question that gives the best answer for you.

		Very poor	Poor	Neither poor nor good	Good	Very good
1(G1)	How would you rate your quality of life?	1	2	3	4	5

		Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very satisfied
2 (G4)	How satisfied are you with your health?	1	2	3	4	5

The full series and the series of the series		- ··· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	41	1 + +1
The following dilestions ask about now much	vou nave exp	eriencea certain i	rnings in the	last two weeks
The following questions ask about non maon	you nute enp	criterieea certaini	uningo in the	habt the heeles.

		Not at all	A little	A moderate amount	Very much	An extreme amount
3 (F1.4)	To what extent do you feel that physical pain prevents you from doing what you need to do?	1	2	3	4	5
4 (F50.1)	How much are you bothered by any physical problems related to your HIV infection?	1	2	3	4	5
5 (F11.3)	How much do you need any medical treatment to function in your daily life?	1	2	3	4	5
6 (F4.1)	How much do you enjoy life?	1	2	3	4	5
7 (F24.2)	To what extent do you feel your life to be meaningful?	1	2	3	4	5
8 (F52.2)	To what extent are you bothered by people blaming you for your HIV status	1	2	3	4	5
9 (F53.4)	How much do you fear the future?	1	2	3	4	5
10 (F54.1)	How much do you worry about death?	1	2	3	4	5

		Not at all	A little	A moderate amount	Very much	Extremely
11 (F5.3)	How well are you able to concentrate?	1	2	3	4	5
12 (F16.1)	How safe do you feel in your daily life?	1	2	3	4	5
13 (F22.1)	How healthy is your physical environment?	1	2	3	4	5

The following questions ask about how completely you experience or were able to do certain things in the last two weeks.

		Not at all	A little	Moderately	Mostly	Completely
14 (F2.1)	Do you have enough energy for everyday life?	1	2	3	4	5
15 (F7.1)	Are you able to accept your bodily appearance?	1	2	3	4	5
16 (F18.1)	Have you enough money to meet your needs?	1	2	3	4	5
17 (F51.1)	To what extent do you feel accepted by the people you know?	1	2	3	4	5
18 (F20.1)	How available to you is the information that you need in your day-to-day life?	1	2	3	4	5

for leisure activities?	19 (F21.1) To what extent do you have the opportunity for leisure activities? 1 2 3 4	5
-------------------------	---	---

		Very poor	Poor	Neither poor nor good	Good	Very good
20 (F9.1)	How well are you able to get around?	1	2	3	4	5

The following questions ask you how **good or satisfied** you have felt about various aspects of your life over the last two weeks.

		Very dissatisfied	Dissatisfied	Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	Satisfied	Very satisfied
21 (F3.3)	How satisfied are you with your sleep?	1	2	3	4	5
22 (F10.3)	How satisfied are you with your ability to perform your daily living activities?	1	2	3	4	5
23 (F12.4)	How satisfied are you with your capacity for work?	1	2	3	4	5
24 (F6.3)	How satisfied are you with yourself?	1	2	3	4	5
25 (F13.3)	How satisfied are you with your personal relationships?	1	2	3	4	5
26 (F15.3)	How satisfied are you with your sex life?	1	2	3	4	5
27 (F14.4)	How satisfied are you with the support you get from your friends?	1	2	3	4	5
28 (F17.3)	How satisfied are you with the conditions of your living place?	1	2	3	4	5
29 (F19.3)	How satisfied are you with your access to health services?	1	2	3	4	5
30 (F23.3)	How satisfied are you with your transport?	1	2	3	4	5

The following question refers to **how often** you have felt or experienced certain things in the last two weeks.

		Never	Seldom	Quite often	Very often	Always
31 (F8.1) How such depr	w often do you have negative feelings h as blue mood, despair, anxiety, ression?	1	2	3	4	5

Did someone help you to fill out this form?

How long did it take to fill this form out?

Do you have any comments about the assessment?

THANK YOU FOR YOUR HELP

II APPENDICE: HAT QOL TOOL

Important instructions

The questions in this questionnaire ask how things are going in different areas of your life. Please answer all questions, even if you do not think they are relevant to you. Before starting to answer the questions, however, there are two types of questions you need to know more about.

- A. You will find some questions that ask about your job/routine daily activities. If you have a job, answer these questions thinking about your job. If you do not have a job, answer these questions thinking about the activities you usually do during most days of the week. Examples include housework, other sorts of chores, going to school or volunteering in an organization.
- B. You will find some questions that ask about your doctor. If you usually see a nurse, a nurse practitioner or a physician's assistant, answer these questions thinking of this person rather than your doctor.

1. The following questions ask about your overall function in the past four weeks.

		All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied	_	_	_		_
	with my physical activity					
р.	in the past 4 weeks, I have been physically limited in my ability to do routine household chores					
c.	In the past 4 weeks, pain has limited my ability to be physically active					
d.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about not being able to do my job/routine daily activities as I have in the past					
e.	In the past 4 weeks, I have felt that having HIV has limited the amount of work I can do at my job/					
£	routine daily activities					
1.	socially active					
g.	In the past 4 weeks, my health has limited my social activities					

2. The following questions ask how you have felt about your HIV medications in the past 4 weeks.

		All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a.	In the past 4 weeks, taking my medicine has made					
	it hard to live a normal life					
b.	In the past 4 weeks, taking my medicine has made					
	me feel better					
с.	In the past 4 weeks, taking my medicine has made					
	me feel more sick than I think I am					
d.	In the past 4 weeks, taking my medicine has made me feel as if I am fighting HIV					
	······································					

Quality of Life Research · Vol 6 · 1997 569

W. C. Holmes and J. A. Shea

3. The following questions ask about your disclosure worries in the past 4 weeks.

		All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a.	In the past 4 weeks, I have limited what I tell others					
	about myself					
b.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been afraid to tell other					
	people that I have HIV					
с.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my					
	family members finding out that I have HIV					
d.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about					
	people at my job/routine daily activities finding out					
	that I have HIV					
e.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried that I will					
	lose my source of income if other people find out					
	that I have HIV					

4. The following questions ask about your health worries in the past 4 weeks.

	All of the	A lot of the	Some of the	A little of the	None of the
	time	time	time	time	time
In the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the					
way I would like to because I am so worried about					
my health					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my					
health getting worse					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about					
my CD4 count					
In the past 4 weeks, I have felt uncertain about what					
the future holds for me					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about when					
I am going to die					
	In the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the way I would like to because I am so worried about my health In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my health getting worse In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my CD4 count In the past 4 weeks, I have felt uncertain about what the future holds for me In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about when I am going to die	All of the time In the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the way I would like to because I am so worried about my health In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my health getting worse In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my CD4 count In the past 4 weeks, I have felt uncertain about what the future holds for me In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about what the future holds for me In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about what the future holds for me In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about when I am going to die	AllA lotof theof theof theof thetimetimeIn the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the	AllA lotSomeof theof theof theof theof thetimetimetimeIn the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live theway I would like to because I am so worried about </td <td>All of the of the timeA lot of the of the timeSome of the of the timeIn the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the way I would like to because I am so worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the hauth use to because I am so worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my health getting worseIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about whatIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about whatIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about whenI am going to die<!--</td--></td>	All of the of the timeA lot of the of the timeSome of the of the timeIn the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the way I would like to because I am so worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have not been able to live the hauth use to because I am so worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about my health getting worseIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about whatIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about whatIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about whenI am going to die </td

5. The following questions ask how you have felt about your doctor in the past 4 weeks.

		All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a.	In the past 4 weeks, I have felt as if my doctor was					
	someone who listens to me					
b.	In the past 4 weeks, I have felt confident in my	_	_	_	_	_
	doctor's ability to care for people with HIV					
с.	In the past 4 weeks, I have felt certain that my doctor has my best interest in mind					

Performance of a new HAT-QoL instrument in asymptomatic seropositive individuals

6. The following questions ask about your financial worries in the past 4 weeks.

	All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about	_	_	_	_	_
having to live on a fixed income					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried	_	_		_	_
about how to pay my bills					
In the past 4 weeks, money has been too tight for me to care for myself the way I think I should					
In the past 4 weeks, I have had enough money to do the things I enjoy doing					
	In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about having to live on a fixed income In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about how to pay my bills In the past 4 weeks, money has been too tight for me to care for myself the way I think I should In the past 4 weeks, I have had enough money to do the things I enjoy doing	All of the beta the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about having to live on a fixed income In the past 4 weeks, I have been worried about how to pay my bills In the past 4 weeks, money has been too tight for me to care for myself the way I think I should In the past 4 weeks, I have had enough money to do the things I enjoy doing	All of the timeA lot of the timeIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried abouthaving to live on a fixed incomeIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worriedabout how to pay my billsIn the past 4 weeks, money has been too tight for me to care for myself the way I think I shouldIn the past 4 weeks, I have had enough money to do the things I enjoy doing	All of the timeA lot of the timeSome of the timeIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried abouthaving to live on a fixed incomeIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worriedabout how to pay my billsIn the past 4 weeks, money has been too tight for me to care for myself the way I think I shouldIn the past 4 weeks, I have had enough money to do the things I enjoy doing <t< td=""><td>All of the timeA lot of the timeSome of the timeA little of the timeIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutImage: Image: Ima</td></t<>	All of the timeA lot of the timeSome of the timeA little of the timeIn the past 4 weeks, I have been worried aboutImage: Image: Ima

7. The following questions ask how you have felt about being HIV positive in the past 4 weeks.

		All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a.	In the past 4 weeks, I have had regrets about the way I lived my life before knowing I had HIV					
b.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been angry about my past HIV risk behaviour					
c.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been able to accept the fact that I have HIV					

8. The following questions ask about your life satisfaction in the past 4 weeks.

	All of the	A lot of the	Some of the	A little of the	None of the
	time	time	time	time	time
In the past 4 weeks, I have enjoyed living					
In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been content with my life					
In the past 4 weeks, I have felt in control of my life					
In the past 4 weeks, I have felt good about myself					
In the past 4 weeks, I have felt motivated to do things					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied with how socially active I am					
In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how healthy I have been					
	In the past 4 weeks, I have enjoyed living In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have been content with my life In the past 4 weeks, I have felt in control of my life In the past 4 weeks, I have felt good about myself In the past 4 weeks, I have felt motivated to do things In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied with how socially active I am In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how healthy I have been	All of the time In the past 4 weeks, I have enjoyed living In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt in control of my life In the past 4 weeks, I have felt good about myself In the past 4 weeks, I have felt motivated to do things In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied with how socially active I am In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how have been In the past 4 weeks, I have been In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how have been In the past 4 weeks, I have been In the past	All A lot of the of the of the time time time In the past 4 weeks, I have enjoyed living In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt in control of my life In the past 4 weeks, I have felt in control of my life In the past 4 weeks, I have felt motivated to do things In the past 4 weeks, I have felt motivated to do things In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied with how socially active I am In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how have been In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been In	All A lot Some of the of the of the time Some of the of the of the time In the past 4 weeks, I have enjoyed living In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt a strong will to live In the past 4 weeks, I have felt in control of my life In the past 4 weeks, I have felt motivated to do things In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied with how socially active I am In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how Have been In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been held be pleased with how In the past 4 weeks, I have been held be pleased with how	All of the of the timeA lot of the of the timeSome of the of the timeA littleIn the past 4 weeks, I have enjoyed living<

9. The following questions ask about your sexual function in the past 4 weeks.

		All of the time	A lot of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
a.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been satisfied with my sexual life					
b. c.	In the past 4 weeks, I have been interested in sex In the past 4 weeks, it has been difficult to get					
	sexually aroused					

Thank you for taking the time to complete all questions. If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to discuss them with your health care provider.

III APPENDIX : FAHI TOOL

FAHI (Version 4)

Below is a list of statements that other people with your illness have said are important. Please circle or mark one number per line to indicate your response as it applies to the past 7 days.

	PHYSICAL WELL-BEING	Not at all	A little bit	Some- what	Quite a bit	Very much
GP1	I have a lack of energy	0	1	2	3	4
GP2	I have nausea	0	1	2	3	4
GP3	Because of my physical condition, I have trouble meeting the needs of my family	0	1	2	3	4
GP4	I have pain	0	1	2	3	4
GP5	I am bothered by side effects of treatment	0	1	2	3	4
GP6	I feel ill	0	1	2	3	4
GP7	I am forced to spend time in bed	0	1	2	3	4
B1	I have been short of breath	0	1	2	3	4
B8	I am bothered by a change in weight	0	1	2	3	4
BMT6	I get tired easily	0	1	2	3	4
HI7	I feel fatigued	0	1	2	3	4
HI12	I feel weak all over	0	1	2	3	4
L2	I have been coughing	0	1	2	3	4

FAHI (Version 4)

Please circle or mark one number per line to indicate your response as it applies to the <u>past 7</u> days.

	EMOTIONAL WELL-BEING/ LIVING WITH HIV	Not at all	A little bit	Some- what	Quite a bit	Very much
GE1	I feel sad	0	1	2	3	4
GE4	I feel nervous	0	1	2	3	4
GE5	I worry about dying	0	1	2	3	4
GE6	I worry that my condition will get worse	0	1	2	3	4
HII	I am unhappy with my appearance	0	1	2	3	4
HI2	It is hard to tell other people about my infection	0	1	2	3	4
HI4	I worry about spreading my infection	0	1	2	3	4
HI5	I am concerned about what the future holds for me	0	1	2	3	4
В7	I worry about the effect of stress on my illness	0	1	2	3	4
HI10	I am embarrassed by my illness	0	1	2	3	4

FAHI (Version 4)

Please circle or mark one number per line to indicate your response as it applies to the <u>past 7</u> days.

	<u>FUNCTIONAL AND GLOBAL</u> WELL-BEING	Not at all	A little bit	Some- what	Quite a bit	Very much
GF1	I am able to work (include work at home)	0	1	2	3	4
GF2	My work (include work at home) is fulfilling	0	1	2	3	4
GF3	I am able to enjoy life	0	1	2	3	4
GF4	I have accepted my illness	0	1	2	3	4
GF5	I am sleeping well	0	1	2	3	4
GF6	I am enjoying the things I usually do for fun	0	1	2	3	4
GF7	I am content with the quality of my life right now	0	1	2	3	4
GE2	I am satisfied with how I am coping with my illness	0	1	2	3	4
GE3	I am losing hope in the fight against my illness	0	1	2	3	4
B4	I feel sexually attractive	0	1	2	3	4
C6	I have a good appetite	0	1	2	3	4
HI6	I feel motivated to do things	0	1	2	3	4
HI11	I am hopeful about the future	0	1	2	3	4
FAHI (Version 4)

Please circle or mark one number per line to indicate your response as it applies to the <u>past 7</u> days.

	SOCIAL WELL-BEING	Not at all	A little bit	Some- what	Quite a bit	Very much
GS1	I feel close to my friends	0	1	2	3	4
GS2	I get emotional support from my family	0	1	2	3	4
GS3	I get support from my friends	0	1	2	3	4
GS4	My family has accepted my illness	0	1	2	3	4
GS5	I am satisfied with family communication about my illness	0	1	2	3	4
GS6	I feel close to my partner (or the person who is my main support	0	1	2	3	4
HI3	I have people to help me if I need it	0	1	2	3	4
Q1	Regardless of your current level of sexual activity, please answer the following question. If you prefer not to answer it, please mark this box and go to the next section.					
GS7	I am satisfied with my sex life	0	1	2	3	4

	COGNITIVE FUNCTIONING	Not at all	A little bit	Some- what	Quite a bit	Very much
L1	My thinking is clear	0	1	2	3	4
HI8	I have trouble concentrating	0	1	2	3	4
HI9	I have trouble remembering things	0	1	2	3	4